F AR NOYVA

FARNOVA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
ZHEBEZERER QT
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability) ( R BFE MK Z BER AT )
Stock Code B 5% : 8153

202 'I ANNUAL REPORT
F #h



CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“"STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached
than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the
potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on
GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies,
there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may
be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the main board of the Stock
Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be
a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any 10ss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any
part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Director(s)”) of Farnova
Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given
in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for
the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company.
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquires, confirm
that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material
respects and not misleading or deceptive and there are no
other matters the omission of which would make any statement
herein or this report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHREE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Farnova Group Holdings
Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”), | hereby present the annual report
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 (the “Year” or
the “Period”).

In 2021, the international situation presented sudden and
perplexing changes. The COVID-19 outbreak dealt a heavy blow
on the global economy. However, China was the only major
economy that achieved a positive growth worldwide.

The revenue of the Group was increased by approximately
235.4% to approximately HK$67.1 million for the Year. The Group
recorded a profit for the Year of approximately HK$2.4 million,
as compared to approximately HK$48.7 million of the loss for the
year ended 31 March 2020 (the “Preceding Year”). The net profit
attributable to owners of the Company for the Year amounted
to approximately HK$3.4 million as compared to approximately
HK$48.7 million of the net loss for the Preceding Year.

During the Year, despite the adverse impacts brought by
the COVID-19 pandemic to the general economy, advertising
segment of the Group has achieved satisfactory performance
attributable to its efforts made to build up the in-house
production team as well as expand the client base and service
offering. The Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$56.1
million from the advertising segment for the Year, representing
a significant growth of approximately 180.5% as compared with
that for the Preceding Year.

With respect to the New energy electric vehicle segment,
in September 2020, the Group launched an all-new flagship
model “new energy electric sports cars”, which have been
widely acclaimed among consumers and the brand influence
continued to grow. During the Year, the Group recorded revenue
of approximately HK$11.0 million from the sales of new energy
electric vehicles. As of 31 March 2021, the Group had delivered
a total of 12 units of new energy electric sports cars to clients
in the PRC; the Group had entered into agreements in relation
to the sale of more than an aggregate of 5,300 units including
pick-up trucks and sports cars.
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Further, in early 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic broke out. By
exerting its advantages and applying its own resources, the
Group actively participated in the epidemic prevention to meet
the needs of the community and to fulfill its corporate social
responsibility.

PROSPECTS

Look into the future, with the recent implementation of vaccine
programs for COVID-19, the Group expects that the economy
will gradually enter into a recovery stage. In order to improve
the competitiveness of the advertising business, the Group
plans to retain existing clients and attract new clients by
providing one-stop advertising packages including, among
others, advising on re-branding, design and production of
advertising and marketing materials, as well as the overall
planning and operation of marketing campaigns. During the
Year, the Group has established its in-house production team
which considerably reduced the production cost, resulting in the
improvement of gross profit margin of the advertising business.
The establishment of a strong in-house production team would
enable the Group to execute and realize its own marketing
and advertising idea and creativity in a more accurate and
cost-effective way. The Group aims to build up local reputation
by delivering quality services, thereby catering the needs of the
potential customers from different industries.

The cultural and media industry throughout the world, and
especially in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") is presented
with an opportunity. Due to the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic on the global business environment, the management
will continue to develop solid operating strategies of the
Group and explore other business opportunities with a view to
enhancing and improving returns to our stakeholders.
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Chairman’s Statement FEREE

Since 2015, production and sales of new energy vehicles of
the PRC have been consecutively ranked the first worldwide.
The latest development plans published by the State Council
of the PRC and industrial association have confirmed the
global automotive development direction of low-carbonization,
emphasizing the national target to reduce its automotive carbon
emissions by more than 20% from the peak by 2035. Driven by
the tide of new energy vehicle development across the board,
the new energy vehicle industry in China is gradually evolving
from the incubation period to development period, transforming
into a vital force which leads the conversion of the global
automobile industry. It is expected that the consumption market
for new energy vehicle in China will maintain steady growth,
and the share of new energy vehicle market will be further
expanded.

In the coming future, the Group will continue focusing on
the sales of new energy electric vehicles, taking new energy
electric vehicles business as important strategic development
direction and devoting itself to the performance of corporate
social responsibility fully by addressing the issues of urban air
pollution and traffic congestion that exist universally

On the other hand, going forward, the Group shall explore
investment opportunities to expedite the development of
its new energy electric vehicle business so as to capture
the potential growth. The Group will consider to enhance its
production capacity such as setting up of manufacturing bases
as well as acquisition of, or collaboration with, other established
manufacturing bases to cater the increasing demand of electric
vehicles. In order to increase the competitiveness of the
product vehicles, the Group shall also continue to strengthen
the competence of the design and engineering teams by, among
others, hiring more experienced talents from the industry and
collaborating with other reputable international automotive
brands. Last but not least, in view of the successful debut of
its flagship model "new energy electric vehicle” in September
2020 in Shenzhen, the PRC, the Group aims to expand its
sales network and improve its brand awareness through,
among others, overseas expansion and conducting market
campaigns to develop the high-end market of new energy
electric vehicles in the PRC and worldwide. In particular, the
Group has expressed interests in an investment in a prestigious
automobile manufacturer based in Italy which brings together
technology and experience of experts from other world-
renowned automobile brands in developing electric vehicles.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERBNWmR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group derives its revenue mainly from: (i) advertising in
Hong Kong and the PRC and (ii) sales of new energy electric
vehicle.

The Group’s revenue for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$67.1 million, representing a increase of 235.4% as compared
to that of approximately HK$20.0 million for the Preceding
Year. The Group’s profit for the Year increased by 104.9% to
approximately HK$2.4 million, as compared to approximately
HK$48.7 million of the loss for the Preceding Year. Such increase
was mainly attributable to the significant decrease in financial
cost, and increase in the revenue of advertising and sales of
new energy electric vehicle.

New automobiles and traditional brands have introduced
the latest new energy electric vehicles, which has greatly
improved the quality and further supplemented and expanded
the overall market share of new energy electric vehicles. Look
to the future, driven by the dual factors of strong demand for
consumption upgrade and the policy of boosting consumption,
the consumption market for new energy electric vehicle in
China will maintain steady growth, and the share of new energy
vehicle market will be further expanded. The Group will also
continue focusing on the sales of new energy electric vehicles,
continue optimizing brand structure, integrate resources to
develop brand advantages, increase concentration of quality
brands, as well as optimize brand structure and network
distribution, in order to strengthen its business results and
increase its core competitiveness.

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

Advertising

The Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$56.1 million
from this operation for the Year, as compared to revenue
of approximately HK$20.0 million for the Preceding Year.
The increase was mainly due to the strengthening of the in-
house production teams as well as the expansion in clientele
attributable to the efforts made by the sales and marketing
team and referrals by the existing clients.
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Management Discussion and Analysis BE Bt &k 247

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (continued)

Advertising (continuea)

During the Year, the Group has recruited three additional
professionals who had previously worked in other advertising
enterprises with extensive network and experience in
advertisement design and planning to join the in-house
production team. Also, the Group has successfully retained
existing clients and solicited new clients by offering annual
advertising packages covering different advertising solutions
on various media platforms such as advertising on mass
transportations and social media. The Group will continue
exploring suitable opportunities to collaborate with different
media platforms in order to further diversify its clientele and
enhance the brand awareness.

New energy electric vehicle

Despite the impact of COVID-19 in the first half of 2020,
China's new energy vehicle industry recovered quickly after
the pandemic, with sales volume recording a strong rebound
in the second half, leading to an overall slight decline for the
year. The new energy electric vehicle industry has risen to the
level of national development strategy and has become an
irreversible development direction. In 2020, China and its local
governments have successively launched various policies to
encourage the development of new energy vehicles, which has
laid a solid foundation and provided substantial support to the
development of the new energy vehicle industry in the next 15
years. It is expected that the policy support will continue to play
an integral role within the next 5 years.

Amid the supportive regulatory environment, notwithstanding
that the business was commenced in late 2020, the Group
recorded revenue of approximately HK$11.0 million from the
sales of new energy electric vehicles during the Year. As of 31
March 2021, the Group had delivered a total of 12 units of new
energy electric sports cars to clients in the PRC, the Group had
entered into agreements in relation to the sale of more than
an aggregate of 5,300 units including pick-up trucks and sports
cars.
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Management Discussion and Analysis BB Bt &k 247

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (continued)

New energy electric vehicle (continuea)

In order to satisfy the increasing needs of new energy electric
vehicles from the local and global markets, in August 2020,
the Group established two wholly-owned subsidiaries, namely
Farnova Automobile (Changde) Manufacturing Limited and Qilun
Permanent Magnet and Electric Motor (Changde) Manufacturing
Limited* (Armk M EBE (B E)REBR AF) to enhance
its production capacity. Currently, the Group cooperates
strategically with Qiantu Automotive (Suzhou) Co., Ltd.* (A&
SRE (B M) B R AT in relation to joint establishment of a
manufacturing base in Changde, the PRC. The Group will closely
monitor the product demand and explore suitable opportunities
to achieve the most cost-effective production plan.

To increase the competitiveness of the Group's electric vehicles,
the Group has devoted a significant amount of in-house efforts
to, among others, research and development, engineering,
design, quality control as well as sales and marketing. The in-
house teams of the Group are composed of talents specialised
in different stages of the development cycle of vehicles with
previous work experiences with, among others, governmental
institutions and worldwide-renowned automobile brands.
The Group brings together top international automotive
technology resources and introduces world class personnel
and autonomous driving technology. In particular, the Group
will engage the engineering and design teams of Ferrari and
Lamborghini to assist in developing the high-end market of new
energy vehicles in China, with the main models being pick-up
trucks, sports cars and buses.

Moreover, as the sole domestic automobile company that
utilises carbon fibre composite materials for vehicle production
on a large scale, the unique characteristics of carbon fibre
have provided the Group with competitive advantages in
developing high-performance and cost-effective new energy
electric vehicles. As compared with traditional metal materials,
carbon fibre has a higher modulus and smaller coefficient of
thermal expansion which enable easier molding, greater design
flexibility and lower processing costs. Also, the relatively high
tensile strength and low density of carbon fibre bring the
most significant advantage of being lightweight, which shall
in turn help enhance energy saving, acceleration and braking
performances of the automobiles.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (continued)

Money lending

No revenue from this operation for the Year, as compared to
revenue of approximately HK$534,000 for the Preceding Year.
As at 31 March 2021, the relevant license had expired and the
Board had decided not to renew the license.

Securities investments

In April and June 2020, the Group disposed of its investments
in equity securities listed in Hong Kong. As at 31 March 2021,
the Group had no interests in any securities in Hong Kong. The
Board shall remain cautious in the development of this business
segment.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue increased by 235.4% to approximately
HK$67.1 million for the Year, as compared to that of
approximately HK$20.0 million for the Preceding Year. The
significant increase in revenue was mainly attributable to
increase in revenue contributed by the advertising segment and
sales of new energy electric vehicle.

Cost of sales and services

The cost of sales and services was 157.0% to approximately
HK$43.7 million for the Year, as compared to that of
approximately HK$17.0 million for the Preceding Year. Such
increase was along with the increase in revenue for the Year.

Gross Profit and gross profit margin

The Group's gross profit increased by 679.6% to approximately
HK$23.4 million for the Year, as compared to that of
approximately HK$3.0 million for the Preceding Year. Such
increase was mainly due to well-established its in-house
production team and the sales of new energy electric vehicle.
The Group’s gross profit margin was 34.9% for the Year.

Distribution costs

The distribution costs of approximately HK$50,000 for the year
as compared to that no distribution costs for the Preceding
Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis BB Bt &k 247

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continuea)

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses for the Year were increased by 3.4% to
approximately HK$23.9 million, as compared to approximately
HK$23.1 million for the Preceding Year. Administrative expenses
mainly consist of staff costs, depreciation, operating lease
rentals for office and legal and professional fees. The Group will
continue to adopt the stringent cost controls in the forthcoming
periods.

Finance costs

The Group recorded finance costs of approximately HK$6.8
million for the Year, as compared to approximately HK$14.4
million for the Preceding Year. The finance costs were mainly
arising from the interest expenses on convertible bonds which
were issued in November 2015 and June 2016 and amended the
terms on 5 December 2019 with the effective interest rates of
10.5% and 9.2% per annum respectively.

Profit for the year and profit attributable to
owners of the Company

The Group recorded a profit for the Year of approximately
HK$2.4 million, as compared to approximately HK$48.7 million of
the net loss for the Preceding Year. Profit attributable to owners
of the Company for the Year was approximately HK$3.4 million,
as compared to approximately HK$48.6 million for the Preceding
Period. The basic and diluted earnings per share of the Group
for the Period were HK cents 0.04, as compared to the basic
and diluted loss per share of the Group for the period were HK
cents 1.21 respectively for the Preceding Period.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately HK$25.2 million (2020: HK$149,000).
The Group’s current ratio, being the current assets of
approximately HK$78.7 million (2020: HK$10.9 million) divided
by the current liabilities of approximately HK$35.4 million (2020:
HK$135.2 million), was computed as approximately 2.23 (2020:
0.08). The Directors are of the view that the Group’s financial
resources are sufficient to support its business and operations.

The Group’s operations are financed principally by revenue
generated from its business operation and available bank
balances. The board (the “Board”) of Directors will continue to
follow a prudent treasury policy in managing its bank balances
and cash and maintain a strong and healthy liquidity to ensure
that the Group is well positioned to achieve its business
objectives and strategies.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
(Continued)

The Group’s total indebtedness comprised the amount due
to a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary, borrowings,
bond payable and convertible bonds with the total amount of
approximately HK$7.9 million (2020: approximately HK$106.0
million). The gearing ratio of the Group, being the total
indebtedness divided by total assets excluding deferred tax
assets and liabilities was 9.8% (2020: 972.5%) as at 31 March
2021. The decremental of the ratio was mainly due to the
decrease of convertible bonds and increase of cash and cash
equivalents of approximately HK$80.8 million, and approximately
HK$25.0 million respectively.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE
RATE AND TREASURY POLICIES

The majority of the Group’s cash balances and transactions
were either denominated in Renminbi or Hong Kong dollars.
The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, the management monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise. As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group
did not have any outstanding hedging instruments.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2021, the number of issued ordinary shares of
the Company was 7,141,423,920 shares (2020: 4,902,391,929
shares). Additional shares may be issued by way of (i)
conversion of the convertible bonds which if fully converted
would result in the issuance of 1,300,000,000 shares of the
Company; (i) bond interest payments which if fully paid would
result in the issuance of 450,131,991 shares of the Company,
and (iii) share issued under general mandate which it fully paid
would result in the insurance of 488,900,000 shares of the
Company.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had a total of 40 (2020: 16).
For the Year, the total staff costs, including key management'’s
remuneration, amounted to approximately HK$6.5 million (2020:
approximately HK$6.6 million).

The salaries and benefits of the Group’s employees were kept
at a market level and employees were rewarded based on
performance, merit and market conditions in accordance with
the Group’s remuneration policy.
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENT
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group currently does not have any firm intention or specific
plans for material investment or capital assets. Apart from
strengthening the Group’s current business, the Group will
explore new business opportunities which may benefit the
Shareholders.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The Group did not pledge any of its assets as securities for any
facilities granted to the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021
and 2020.

CONTINGENT LIABILITY

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at
31 March 2021 and 2020.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

The Group did not have any significant capital commitment as
at 31 March 2021 and 2020.

USE OF PROCEEDS

During the Year, the Group conducted the following equity fund
raising exercise and as at 31 March 2021, the actual use of
proceeds were shown as follows:

Date of
announcement

Fund raising
activities

Net proceeds raised
(approximately)
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EEKH
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Proposed use of net
proceeds

Actual use of net proceeds

EREREAR FERERRERAR

16 October 2020 Placing of new shares HK$68.6 million For repayment of debts, approximately HK$19.9 million for
under general mandate expansion of the Group's repayment of debts; approximately
business and general working HK$16 million for salaries, professional
capital fees and other administrative expenses;
approximately HK$6.5 million as working
capital for advertising business and
approximately HK$9.1 million as working
capital for new energy automobile
business; halance being held as bank
deposit
—ZT-TE RE-REBREENRN B6BEETL ARERER BEAEEE £1990008 TR RERBEHR: &
TA+~H BRh-%Ke2ELS 16000008 ARG S EXERAR
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
EENEREBEB 2 BRHE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. GUO Gelin (“Mr. Guo”), aged 60, has been appointed as
an Executive Director and the chairman on 27 February 2020.

Mr. Guo has over 30 years of management experience and
20 years of manufacturing and global sales experience in
information technology industry. Mr. Guo is the founder and
director of Shenzhen Fa Nuo Yacht Company Ltd. Since 2009
which has become a well-known catamaran-powered sailing
ship manufacturing company in global. In 2017, Mr. Guo lead the
European team into new energy vehicle industry.

Mr. Guo does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company with the meaning of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EER SR EEEB 2BEFFE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. CHOW Chi Wah Vincent, aged 52, joined the Group
and was appointed as an executive Director and managing
Director on 25 June 2020 and resigned on 23 November 2020.
Mr. Chow is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and an associate member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He obtained a
Master’s degree in Professional Accounting from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. Mr. Chow has over 20 years’ experience
in the finance and accounting fields in Hong Kong. Mr. Chow is
the executive director of Oshidori International Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 622) (“Oshidori”) since 1 June 2016 and company
secretary of Oshidori since 12 July 2016. He was appointed
as the managing director of the company with effect from 5
April 2017. He was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Celebrate International Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
8212) since 31 August 2018. Mr. Chow was an independent
non-executive director of Imagi International Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 585), a company listed on the Stock Exchange
for the period from 28 January 2016 to 10 April 2017. Mr. Chow
was an executive director of Mascotte Holdings Limited, now
renamed HengTen Networks Group Limited (Stock Code: 136),
a company listed on the Stock Exchange, for the period from 3
November 2014 to 26 October 2015.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Chow does not, and is not
deemed to have any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong).

Mr. Chow does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or
controlling shareholders of the Company with the meaning of
the GEM Listing Rules.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EER SR EEE 2 BEFFE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. MOU Zhongwei ("“Mr. Mou"), aged 64, has been
appointed as an executive director of the Company on 19
August 2020.

Mr. Mou is currently the chairman of Hainan Xinshanghe
Investment Holdings Co., Ltd., Hainan Shanghe Chaodian New
Energy Technology Co., Ltd. and Hainan Shanghe Aviation
Intelligent Technology Co., Ltd.. Mr. Mou has many years of
experience in the new technology industry and accumulated
extensive knowledge in the related business.

Mr. Mou does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company with the meaning of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Mr. HU Chao ("Mr. Hu"), aged 37, joined the Group and was
appointed as an executive Director on 22 July 2016 and resigned
on 14 December 2020. Mr. Hu obtained a Bachelor Degree in
Law from Hunan University of Technology (formerly known
as Zhuzhou Institute of Technology). Mr. Hu has extensive
experience in legal consultation and had been providing
consultancy services for various businesses in the PRC. Mr. Hu
currently serves as independent non-executive director of GT
Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 263), the company listed on
the Main Board. Mr. Hu is also a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. He also acts as the chairman of the nomination
committee.

Mr. Hu does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company within the meaning of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. WANG Ronggqgian (“Mr. Wang"), aged 40, joined the
Group on 1 April 2016 as a general manager and was appointed
as an executive Director on 8 June 2016 and was resigned on
19 June 2020. Mr. Wang holds a Master degree in corporate
and financial laws from the University of Hong Kong. Mr. Wang
has extensive experience in the areas of project management,
corporate finance, commercial trade, and legal practice in the
PRC. He currently serves as an independent non-executive
director of CL Group (Holdings) Limited (Stock Code: 8098) and
Kirin Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8109), both being
companies whose shares are listed on the GEM. Mr. Wang is
also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Wang does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or
controlling shareholders of the Company within the meaning of
the GEM Listing Rules.

Mr. DENG Li ("Mr. Deng"), aged 62, has been appointed as
an executive director of the Company on 11 January 2021.

Mr. Deng is currently honourary president of the New Zealand
China Friendship Society, honourary president of the New
Zealand Deng Li Fund, chairman of the board of Rainbow China
Culture and Media Group of New Zealand, and was a recipient
of the New Zealand Order of Merit. Mr. Deng was vice president
of the Shenzhen General Chamber of Commerce from 2011 to
2012. Mr. Deng is not only passionate about cultural and art
exchange, but also values the transmission and education of
Chinese culture.

Mr. Deng does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or
controlling shareholders of the Company with the meaning of
the GEM Listing Rules.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Qiang (“Mr. Wang"), aged 58, has been appointed
as a non-executive director of the Company on 19 August 2020.

Mr. Wang has worked in the financial industry for years and
accumulated extensive knowledge and experience in securities,
investment and asset management. Mr. Wang has joined China
Huarong Asset Management Co., Ltd. In September 2009 and
held various positions including the deputy general manager of
China Huarong Shenzhen office, the general manager of China
Huarong International Holdings Limited (formerly known as
Huarong (HK) International Holdings Limited, “CHIH"), and the
general manager of China Huarong Shanghai Pilot Free Trade
Zone office. In June 2016, Mr. Wang joined Huarong International
Financial Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 993) and acted as the
deputy chief executive officer. In February 2017, Mr. Wang has
been re-appointed as the executive director and chief executive
officer. Mr. Wang has been re-appointed again as the chairman
of the board in April 2017 until November 2018.

Mr. Wang does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or
controlling shareholders of the Company with the meaning of
the GEM Listing Rules.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-Executive Directors (continuead)

Mr. WANG Dequn ("“Mr. Wang"), aged 59, was appointed
as an executive Director and chairman on 1 November 2019,
was re-designated as a non-executive Director and ceased
to be the chairman of the Board and the chairman of the
nomination committee of the Company with effect from 17
April 2019 and was resigned on 6 August 2020. He is the
chairman of the board of China Veterans Capital Technology
Company Limited (R E & & B & B R 2 7). Mr. Wang has
over 20 years of business experience in e-commerce and
information technology. He has devoted himself to research
and development of new energy, mobile communications,
mobile internet, new mobile e-commerce, etc., and obtained
various national technology patents. Mr. Wang has founded a
number of knowledge-intensive and resource intensive entities
driven by information technology innovation. Such entities
cover the business of cultural industry, health industry, new
energy automobile industry, new e-commerce platform, film
and television media, computer software development, and
research and development, production and sales of mobile
smart terminal products. Mr. Wang was an executive director
and the chairman of Celebrate International Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 8212) for the period from 19 September 2017 to
25 January 2019. Mr. Wang graduated from Party School of the
Central Committee of the Communist Party of China with a
major in economic management.

Mr. Wang does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or
controlling shareholders of the Company within the meaning of
the GEM Listing Rules.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EER SR EEE 2 BEFFE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-Executive Directors (continuead)

Mr. KUANG Quanzhuang (“Mr. Kuang”), aged 38, has been
appointed as a non-executive director of the Company on 11
January 2021.

Mr. Kuang was head of design of Shenzhen Comtech Electronics
Co., Ltd. where he engaged in product development and mould
design and was responsible for managing factory workshop
production and development project execution and has many
years of experience in production and design of moulds. Since
2009, Mr. Kuang has been serving as manager of the production
department and chief engineer of Shenzhen Daging Yacht
Limited. Since the company developed its fibreglass sedan
business in 2015, Mr. Kuang has been mainly responsible for
body mould design, engineering structure integration, mass
production and external coordination.

Mr. Kuang does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or
controlling shareholders of the Company with the meaning of
the GEM Listing Rules.

Mr. LI Guangying ("Mr. Li"), aged 51, has been appointed as
a non-executive director of the Company on 23 February 2021.

Mr. Li has been a founder and director of Shandong Wenshao
Pension Industry Investment Company Limited since 2014. Mr.
Li focus on investment in technology industries for more than
ten years, with investment footprints covering the internet, new
energy, bio-health and other fields and gaining rich experience.

Mr. Li does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company with the meaning of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EER SR EEEB 2BEFFE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-Executive Directors (continuead)

Mr. WANG Hanjing (“Mr. Wang"), aged 38, has been
appointed as a non-executive director of the Company on 25
February 2021.

Mr. Wang is well experienced in accounting and financial
management. Mr. Wang had been the financial director in
Shenzhen zZhonggang Chuangfu Investment Development
Company Limited from April 2020 to January 2021.

Mr. Wang is the beneficial owner of 74,055,000 shares in the
Company, representing approximately 1.03% interest in the
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
report.

Mr. Wang does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or
controlling shareholders of the Company with the meaning of
the GEM Listing Rules.

Mr. MEI Kaji ("“Mr. Mei"), aged 32, has been appointed as a
non-executive director of the Company on 11 January 2021 and
resigned on 23 February 2021.

Mr. Mei founded Guangzhou Ketuo New Energy Vehicles
Technology Limited in March 2016 and has since served as
its chairman of the board. In addition, Mr. Mei is currently a
committee member of the Project Panel of the China Young
Technology Workers Association, and a council member of the
Guangzhou Young Scientists Association. Mr. Mei has many
years of experience working in the field of electric vehicles
innovation and has received multiple honours and awards
across government departments for his design on A Lighter
Chassis for New Energy Pure Electric Vehicles.

Mr. Mei does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company with the meaning of the GEM
Listing Rules.

24 Farnova Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021

BEEg )
EHITES (B

ITESRE(ERED 3B - R_FT=_—F
“AZThBEZRERARRBFATES -

ThAERESHANYBERE T ALEHREE - £
HECR_E-_ZEFNRAE_FT-_—F— A
AR THBEESREZRER TN B

=
BES -

F 5 4 B AN A §174,055,0000% 8% 7 (BN A8 A &)
BETRAFRL1.03% 2 ERX)2EZHEBA

TRAEEARREFNEMES SREEE
22 AROR o4 AR AR R B AE fRTGEM £ T AR B
PRRTE 2 B8R °

WMEREE(EEED 25 RZTE=_—F
— B+ HBEZAAARRARIERNTESTT R
TE—FE-_A-+=HEE-

WEER-ZT—RF=ABIZEMATFE 6
RABENMKEAERART AL —BERETESRK -
g EELEBRMERETREBTFRRIIE
EHERREMZESCZE  ERFFHI
XM EEEEFRY WALECEESTERF
BEIEZHF  BREIANOCGIERLEE

NERELREAERELZAERTTRR
FFafFIRE R BEEE -

BEERARREMNEMBES  SREELE
22 RAROIR o 4R AR AR R B AE fRIGEM £ T AR Bl
PRSE 2 B8R ©



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EER SR EEE 2 BEFFE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-Executive Directors (continuead)

Mr. Wen Jingzhou (“Mr. Wen"), aged 58, has over 30 years of
experience in design. He is currently the founder, president and
design director of N.D. Industrial Design Innovation Consortium
(RYITERZME ¥ RHER~ALQA), Shenzhen, the PRC, a
private company that cooperates with globally acclaimed life
sciences corporations and has been awarded various domestic
and international industrial design awards such as the China’s
Most Successful Designs Award from Fortune China Magazine,
gold and silver prizes for the Red Star Design Award and
the Reddot Design Award. In addition, Mr. Wen obtained a
bachelor’s degree in industrial design from the Academy of Arts
and Design, Tsinghua University (formerly known as the Central
Institute of Arts and Crafts), the PRC, in 1992.

Mr. Wen does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company with the meaning of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EER SR EEEB 2BEFFE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. LEE Chi Hwa Joshua (“Mr. Lee"), aged 49, joined the
Group and was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 1 December 2007 and resigned on 31 May 2021. Mr.
Lee is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Lee has extensive experience in the
fields of auditing, accounting and finance. Mr. Lee currently
serves as an executive director and company secretary of China
Healthcare Enterprise Group Limited (Stock Code: 1143) which
is listed on the Main Board, an independent non-executive
director of Hao Tian Development Group Limited (Stock Code:
474), Jin Bao Bao Holdings Limited (now known as Teamway
International Group Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 1239), Hao
Tian International Construction Investment Group Limited (Stock
Code: 1341) and Fujian Nuogi Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 1353), which
are listed on the Main Board; and China Fortune Investments
(Holding) Limited (Stock Code: 8116) and Focus Media Network
Limited (now known as Cornerstone Financial Holdings Limited)
(Stock Code: 8112), which are listed on the GEM. He was an
independent non-executive director of China Minsheng Drawin
Technology Group Limited (now known as China Minsheng
DIT Group Limited) (Stock Code: 726) from December 2013 to
February 2015 and King Stone Energy Group Limited (Stock
Code: 663) from January 2012 to April 2013. He is the chairman
of the audit committee and a member of the nomination
committee and the remuneration committee of the Company.

Mr. Lee does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company within the meaning of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Mr. WONG Ching Keung (“Mr. Wong"), aged 53, joined the
Group and was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 21 September 2019 and resigned on 1 March 2021.
Mr. Wong has engaged in vegetable trade between China and
Hong Kong for more than 30 years. He is currently the general
manager of Kong Fung Vegetable Trading Limited. He is the
member of the audit committee and the nomination committee
of the Company.

Mr. Wong does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or
controlling shareholders of the Company within the meaning of
the GEM Listing Rules.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EER SR EEE 2 BEFFE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
(Continued)

Dr. Antonio Maria SANTOS ("Dr. Santos”), aged 64, have
been appointed as the independent non-executive Director on 9
July 2019 and resigned on 20 November 2020.

Dr. Santos was retired from Hong Kong Police Force in January
2012 after more than 30 years of service. His last position was
an Assistant Commander of a Police District. He is the Chief
Operations Officer of the Advance Tactics Service Limited since
July 2013, a consultancy specialized in corporate and personal
risk management. Apart from volunteering for community
services, Dr. Santos is also a part time lecturer in the faculty of
Crime and Investigation for associate degrees and degrees.

Dr. Santos holds a Ph.d. in business administration from
the Nueva Ecija University of Science and Technology in the
Republic of Philippines, a master degree in management studies
from the University of Northumbria at Newcastle in the United
Kingdom and a master degree in criminal justice from the Tarlac
State University in the Republic of Philippines. He is a Fellow of
the Chartered Management Institute, the United Kingdom. Dr.
Santos is an independent non-executive director of Auto Italia
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 720), as well as Imagi International
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 585), both shares of which are
listed on the mainboard of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Dr. Santos does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or
controlling shareholders of the Company within the meaning of
the GEM Listing Rules.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EER SR EEEB 2BEFFE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
(Continued)

Mr. LUO Ji ("Mr. LUo”), aged 38, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director on 19 August 2020.

Mr. Luo is currently a general manager of Shenzhen Tianxia
Huaging Investment Technology Company Limited since 2018.
Mr. Luo has been an independent non-executive Director in
China Ding Yi Feng Holdings Limited (formerly name: China
Investment Fund Company Limited) (Stock Code: 612) from
February 2016 to April 2016.

Mr. Luo does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company with the meaning of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EER SR EEE 2 BEFFE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
(Continued)

Ms. NG Yin Ling ("“Ms. Ng"), aged 47, have been appointed
as the independent non-executive Director on 9 July 2019 and
was resigned on 30 June 2020.

Ms. Ng received her Bachelor of Arts in Business Administration
from the University of Ottawa in 2002, and a Master of Law
(International Business Law) from the City University of Hong
Kong in 2003. A Juris Doctor degree at the City University
of Hong Kong 2016. Ms. Ng currently working with Imagi
International Holdings Limited (stock code 585) as Senior
Vice President of Legal and Corporate Develop. Her work
experience includes a teaching post at the City University of
Hong Kong for the Diploma in Facility Management of Business
Management from 2005 to 2007. From 2004 to 2005 she was a
Senior Manager at the Hong Kong Productivity Council where
she was in charge of business collaboration and partnership
development. From 2002 to 2004, she held a position as an
Executive Officer and External Relations Officer at the City
University of Hong Kong where she was also in charge of
business collaboration and partnership development. Previously
she held senior managerial sales roles at GE ECXpress (HK)
Limited, Parametric Technology Corporation (HK) Limited,
Unigraphics Solutions (HK) Limited and System-Pro Computers
Limited during the period from 1992 to 2002.

Ms. Ng does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company within the meaning of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EER SR EEEB 2BEFFE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
(Continued)

Ms. WU Hong (“Mr. Wu"), aged 53, has been appointed as a
independent non-executive director of the Company on 4 March
2021.

Ms. Wu received her Master of Business Administration from
China Europe International Business School in 2009. Ms. Wu is
currently working with Shenzhen Lihe Family Office Consulting
Company Limited as general manager. Ms. Wu has many years
of experience in the financial industry, who is familiar with the
business operation of the financial industry. Ms. Wu is also good
at refining and summarizing complex information.

Ms. Wu does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company with the meaning of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Ms. LI Jianxing (“Mr. Li"), aged 63, has been appointed as a
independent non-executive director of the Company on 5 March
2021.

Mr. Li graduated from Shanghai Maritime University with a
Bachelor Degree in accounting. He also received a Master
Degree in Business Administration from The Canisius College
of Buffalo. Mr. Li has over 30-year experience working
in the field of accounting and corporate finance and has
substantial experience in management in various listed
companies, investment business, investor relations and
project management. He was the senior manager of both
the investment department and finance department of China
Everbright Holdings Company Limited from April 1998 to June
2000. From April 2003 to May 2004, he was a General Manager
of Investor Relations in China Resources Power Holdings. Mr. Li
is currently served as an independent non-executive director of
Sinofortune Finance Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8123).

Mr. Li does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company with the meaning of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EER SR EEE 2 BEFFE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
(Continued)

Dr. Wu Bin ("Dr. Wu"), aged 55, has over 20 years of
experience in finance. He is currently the managing partner of
Tiger Capital Fund, Hong Kong Further, Dr. Wu is also the chief
financial advisor of Qianhai Authority, Shenzhen. Prior to his
current positions, he had worked as a chief investment officer
of China Merchant Fund, Shenzhen, from 2005 to 2011. Prior
to that, he had worked at China City Natural Gas from 2001 to
2005 and his last position was the chief executive officer. He
also had worked at Credit Suisse First Boston, New York, as
vice president from 1997 to 2001. Dr. Wu obtained a bachelor’s
degree in cell biology from Wuhan University, the PRC, in 1987.
He also obtained a doctorate degree in cell biology from Cornell
University, United States, in 1992 and a doctorate degree in
finance from Duke University, United States, in 1997.

Dr. Wu does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company with the meaning of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

The Directors are pleased to present their report and the
audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of the Group are advertising in Hong Kong
and the PRC, and the sales of new energy electric vehicles in
the PRC.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including
a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group and an indication of likely future development in the
Group's business, can be found in the in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this report.

Risks and uncertainties

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group have
been addressed in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” in this report. In addition, various financial risks
have been disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

An analysis using financial key performance
indicators

The relevant financial key performance indicators relating to
the business of the Group are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and the consolidated
financial statements in this report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Environmental policies and performance

The Group recognises its responsibility to protect the
environment from its business activities. The Group continually
seeks to identify and manage environmental impacts
attributable to its operational activities in order to minimise
these impacts if possible. The Group aims to promote
efficient use of resources and adopting green technologies for
emission reduction. For instance, the Group seeks to upgrade
equipment such as lighting and air-conditioning systems in
order to increase overall operating efficiency. To identify energy
efficiency opportunities, the Group measures and records the
energy consumption intensity from time to time.

Third-Party Risks

The Group has been relying on third-party service providers
in parts of business to improve performance and efficiency
of the Group. While gaining the benefits from external service
providers, the management realises that such operational
dependency may pose a threat of vulnerability to unexpected
poor or lapses in service including reputation damage, business
disruption and monetary losses. To address such uncertainties,
the Group engages only reputed third-party providers and
closely monitors their performance.

Relationships with employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders

The Group ensures all staff are reasonably remunerated and
regularly review the employment policies on remuneration and
other benefits. The Group maintains a good relationship with its
customers and suppliers. The Group maintains close contacts
with the customers and has regular review of requirements of
customers and complaints. The Group will conduct review on
the suppliers’ performance on regular basis.
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Report of the Directors EE 2%

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's results for the year ended 31 March 2021 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 81 to 82 of this annual report.
Other movements in reserves are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 85 to 87 of this annual
report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 192 of
this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during
the year are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.

USE OF PROCEEDS

Details of the use of proceeds of the Company during the year
are set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this annual report.
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS

The Company issued the convertible bonds bearing interest
at 6% per annum in the aggregate principal amount of HK$130
million on 5 November 2015 (the “CB 2018") and HK$120 million
on 28 June 2016 (the “CB 2019") respectively (collectively refer
the “CB"). The CB mature after three years and the CB holders
(the “Bondholder(s)”) can be converted into ordinary shares
of the Company any time on or before the maturity date at a
fixed conversion price of HK$0.05 subject to certain customary
adjustments at the discretion of the Bondholders that are
independent third parties. The net proceeds received from
issuance of the CB of approximately HK$235.9 million.

On 25 October 2018, the Company and the Bondholders of the
CB entered into the entered the supplemental agreements,
pursuant to which the Company agreed with the Bondholders
(i) to extend the maturity date of the CB 2018 and the CB 2019
from the maturity date of 5 November 2018 and 28 June 2019
respectively to the extended maturity date of 31 December
2019, and (ii) to change the interest payment terms of the
CB 2018 and the CB 2019 from interest of 6% per annum
payable annually to 8% per annum payable semi-annually. The
approval from the Stock Exchange has been granted and the
shareholders’ approval has been obtained at the special general
meeting of the Company dated 5 December 2018 to approve the
amendments to the terms of the CB.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the CB in the aggregate
principal amount of HK$65.0 million have been convertible into
1,300,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company.

As at the end of the financial year and at the time when the
Directors approved this report, the convertible bonds has all
been converted, no additional share will be issued.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
bye-laws of the Company or the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
of the Company on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
SHARES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company had no distributable reserve as at 31 March 2021,
as required in accordance with the Companies Act of Bermuda
(as amended).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group did not make any charitable donation for the year
ended 31 March 2021.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2021, sales to the Group's five
largest customer’s accounted for 100% of the total revenue for
the year and revenue to the largest customer included therein
amounted to 50.0%. Purchases from the Group's five largest
suppliers accounted for 96.4% of the total purchases for the
year.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates
or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)
had any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest customers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Guo Gelin (Chairman)

Mr. Mou Zhongwei (Appointed on 19 August 2020)

Mr. Deng Li (Appointed on 11 January 2021)

Mr. Wang Rongagian (Resigned on 19 June 2020)

Mr. Chow Chi Wah Vincent (Resigned on 23 November 2020)

Mr. Hu Chao (Resigned on 14 December 2020)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Qiang (Appointed on 19 August 2020)

Mr. Kuang Quanzhuang (Appointed on 11 January 2021)

Mr. Li Guangying (Appointed on 23 February 2021)

Mr. Wang Hanjing (Appointed on 25 February 2021)

Mr. Wang Dequn (Resigned on 6 August 2020)

Mr. Mei Kaji (Appointed on 11 January 2021 and
resigned on 23 February 2021)

Mr. Wen Jingzhou (Appointed on 29 June 2021)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Luo Ji (Appointed on 19 August 2020)

Ms. Wu Hong (Appointed on 4 March 2021)

Mr. Li Jianxing (Appointed on 5 March 2021)

Ms. Ng Yin Ling Elaine (Resigned on 30 June 2020)

Dr. Santos Antonio Maria (Resigned on 20 November 2020)
Mr. Wong Ching Keung (Resigned on 1 March 2021)

Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua (Resigned on 31 May 2021)

Dr. Wu Bin (Appointed on 25 June 2021)

Report of the Directors EEg#H &

5=
REFEERBEAREAS AARAZES
mT

HITESE

SO £ (EE)
BERBEE(R=ZF=ZFFNA+/LAHT)
HBEE(R-_F-_—F—HA+—HHL)
ITREAER-_F-ZFFNASTNLAFE)
BAEEEGE (R-_E-_FEFE+—H=-+=H
BEIE)
HBAE(R-_FE-_FF+-HF+HAZT)

FHITES
ITREER=_FE-FTFENA+LAHT)
BEARE (R -_FE-_—F—HA+—HHE)
ERERE (R —F——F A —+=ZHHT)
ITREEEER=ZF=—F=-_A=+AHLHE)
TEREEER=_ZF-_ZFFNANNHEF)
WEBEE(R - FE-_—F—HA+—HHF
PR-_F-_—F-F -+ =ZHFT)
BREAEE(RZE-Z—FANA -+ ALHE)

BYFHITES
BREIRER=ZF=ZFEENAF+NLALE)
RO (R=F=—F=HOHAHF)
TRTAER-_FE-_—F=ZHAHALAE)
RBMERLET(R-FE-—ZFEFNNA=F+HEFE)
MREBET(R=ZFEZFF+—HZ1+HEFF)
TIEREER-F-_—F=H—HFL)
TERESAE R T —FARA=ZF—HFT)
REBLET(R=ZEF-—FNA-+AHALT)

FHEEERRERAT —T-_—FFK 37



Report of the Directors EE 2%

DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors (“INED(s)”)
(Continued)

In accordance with Bye-Law no. 87 of the Bye-law of the
Company and Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules, one-third of
the Directors will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company (the "AGM").

No Director proposed for the re-election at the forthcoming
AGM.

Where vacancies arise at the Board, candidates will be proposed
and put forward to the Board by the Nomination Committee
(as defined below) as set out below under the section on
Nomination Committee.

The Company has received annual confirmations of
independence from the above INEDs, and as at the date of this
report still considers them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 17 to 31 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors proposed for re-election at the Company’s
forthcoming annual general meeting have an unexpired
service contract, which is not determinable by the Company
or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

38 Farnova Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021

BE %)
BYKHITES®)

RIFEARE 2 E 12 AR FE871% K GEM L 47
AffST A =o2 " EFERESR KE
NEERYBERARARERRBFARE
(BRBFEAE)) EBEEBME -

MERNEERRBEFASLEEZES -

HWEESHBEH  IREZE8€(FERTX
BT IREEZESG MM EESTRR
EERMIREA

ARREEBE LRBIIFRTEETERBEL
M2FEERAE BEARSAH  A2F
DRRWEHBEBLAL °

EERGREEEBCRE

AEBESMafAETEEBEZBEABHNAK
|EEI7TEINE o

EEZRBEN
BRARBRERRBFAGLERCES
BEILARAKEEFMF AR AAR —F
NEFEELBEECEERERINTRILEZ
REHRBEL -



DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed herein under note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements, no Director nor a connected entity of a
Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
to the business of the Group to which the holding company of
the Company, or any of the Company’s subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party during the year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

Salary package for employees are structured by reference
to market conditions, staff's experience and individual
performance. Other benefits offered by the Group included
medical insurance, mandatory provident fund scheme, training
subsidies, share option scheme and discretionary bonus.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management are
recommended by the remuneration committee and decided by
the Board, with reference to the market rates, commitment,
contribution and their duties, and responsibilities with the
Group. Details of directors’ remuneration are set out in details
in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an
incentive to the Directors and eligible employees, details of
the scheme are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the ordinary
share of HK$0.0004 each in the share capital of the Company
(“Shares”), underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ")) which were
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares

Name of Director and

chief executive Capacity
EERTETHRAEHS 80

Mr. Guo Gelin Beneficial owner
PR MRS A BEmBEAA

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, none of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company had any
interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

So far as known to the Directors or chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 March 2021, the following persons/entities
(other than the Directors and chief executives of the Company)
had or were deemed to have an interest or a short position in
the shares or the underlying shares which would be required
to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under
the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register of the Company required
to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO, or who were directly
or indirectly, to be interested in 5% or more of the nominal
value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of the Company or any other
member of the Group:

Long positions in the Shares and underlying
Shares

Name of Capacity and

Notes nature of interests

Shareholders

BRRERE ME SBHREZHE
Guo Gelin Beneficial owner
AR BEnlEEA

RXE Beneficial owner

ESBBA

China Ding Yi Feng (@ Beneficial owner

Holdings Limited EREAA
TESE LR
BRAT

Beneficial owner
EanlEEA

Eternity Sky Limited (@)
AETERAT
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSONS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY (continuea)

Long positions in the Shares and underlying

Shares (continued)

Name of
Shareholders

REREE

Final Destination (a)
Limited

Flying Goddess (@)
Limited

Hong Kong Toprich (a)
Investment
EBERERE
BER AT

Capacity and
nature of interests

SORERNEE

Interest of corporation controlled
XEEE R

Interest of corporation controlled
XEEB R

Interest of corporation controlled
XEEE R
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS® AND OTHER
PERSONS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY (continuea)

Long positions in the Shares and underlying
Shares (continued)
Note:

(a) HONG KONG TOPRICH INVESTMENT LIMITED is directly wholly
owned by FINAL DESTINATION LIMITED which is directly wholly
owned by Eternity Sky Limited which is directly wholly owned
by FLYING GODDESS LIMITED which is directly wholly owned by
China Ding Yi Feng Holdings Limited. China Ding Yi Feng Holdings
Limited, FLYING GODDESS LIMITED, Eternity Sky Limited and FINAL
DESTINATION LIMITED are deemed to be interested in the Shares
and underlying Shares held by HONG KONG TOPRICH INVESTMENT
LIMITED

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, there was no
person or corporation, other than the Directors and chief
executives of the Company whose interests are set out in the
section “Directors’ and chief executives' interests and short
position in shares, underlying shares and debentures” above,
had any interest or a short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

Report of the Directors EEg#H &

FERRREMATHRERDIFTR
LREBRODZEZRRE &)

RERORMEBRG 2 F R E)

& B % E 1% & B R 2 Al B FINAL DESTINATION
LMTED & # & & # & - i FINAL DESTINATION
ULMTEDE RXBITERAREEEZE#RE r MK
1817 A PR A T M FLYING GODDESS LIMITEDH # &
B YA - MFLYING GODDESS LIMITED i A Bl & 25
BIERERAREEEER TRESZEE
A% B R A A~ FLYING GODDESS LIMITED + X187T
AR AT &FINAL DESTINATION LIMITED ¥ 18 /& 7
BEEREREERARMBAEZRMDRAEERK
M ERERZ -

s

BREXHBEEN RZF_—F=ZA=+—
B MEALIZE(EERARATIETR
ABBRIN  EBSHRNEXEERFTETH
ABREB - HERD RIERENER AR
—E)RARB DX BERD T HEBRLER
ARRARRBEZESZ R B EGRPIEIBIERBEAT
FEZERMAZEMERIOXE -

FHEEERRERAT —T-_—FFK 43



Report of the Directors EE 2%

COMPETITION INTEREST

None of the Directors, the controlling Shareholders or
substantial Shareholders or any of its respective close
associates has engaged in any business that competes or may
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group, as defined in the GEM Listing Rules, or has or may have
any other conflict of interests with Group during the year ended
31 March 2021.

PURCHASES, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted by the
Shareholders and it became effective on 27 March 2020 and
remains in force for a period of 10 years from that date. A
summary of the principal terms of the Scheme is set out as
follows:—

(@) Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Company
to grant share options of the Company (the “Option(s)")
under the Scheme to the eligible participants (defined in
paragraph (b) below) for their contribution to the growth of
the Company or any subsidiaries of the Company and to
provide the Company with more flexible means to reward,
remunerate, compensate and/or provide benefit to the
eligible participants.

For the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the
Group's operations, eligible participants of the Scheme
include any employee, director, supplier of goods or
services, customer, agent, adviser, consultant, strategist,
contractor, sub-contractor, expert or entity that provides
research, development or other technological support
or any valuable services to the Company and any of its
subsidiaries, shareholder of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or holder of any securities issued by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
(b) Eligible Participants

(c)

Pursuant to the Scheme, the Board may, at their
discretion, invite any directors and employees of the
Group and any suppliers, customers, agents, advisors,
consultants, strategists, contractors, sub-contractors,
expert or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support or any valuable services to
the Group; shareholders and any securities holders of the
Group (the “Participants”) to participate in the Scheme.

Total number of shares of the Company
available for issue under the Scheme

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which
Options may be granted under the Scheme shall not
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of approval of the Scheme. The Board shall
not grant any options which would result in the maximum
aggregate number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding Options granted but yet to be
exercised under the Scheme which provide for the grant
of Options to acquire or subscribe for shares exceeding,
in aggregate, 30% of the issued share capital of the
Company from time to time. The mandate of the Scheme
was refreshed by the approval of shareholders at the
special general meeting of the Company held on 27 March
2020. As at the date of this report, the number of shares
available for issue under the Scheme was 490,239,192
Shares
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
(d) Maximum entitlement of each Participant

(e)

(f)

46

The maximum number of Shares, both issued and to be
issued, upon exercise of the Options granted under the
Scheme to each Participant in any 12 months period up
to the date of grant must not exceed 1% of the issued
share capital of the Company on date of grant unless
it is approved by shareholders in a general meeting of
the Company with such Participant and his associates
abstaining from voting. Any Option granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director
of the Company or to any of their associates, in excess
of 0.1% of the issued share capital of the Company and
with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
shares at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million,
in any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’
approval in general meeting of the Company.

Term of exercise of the Options

The period within which the Options must be exercised will
be specified by the Company at the time of grant. Options
granted may be exercised in whole or in part in the
manner provided in the Scheme by a grantee giving notice
in writing to the Company at any time during a period not
to exceed 10 years from the date of grant.

Payment on acceptance of an Option
offer

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable by the
Participants upon acceptance of the grant of Options.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continuea)

(g) Basis on determining of the subscription
price
The subscription price per Share under the Scheme is
a price determined by the Board and notified to each
Participant and shall not be less than the greatest of (i) the
closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation
sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant;
(i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
daily quotation sheet issued by the Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of
grant.

(h) Remaining life of the Scheme
The Scheme will remind valid until 26 March 2030.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, 90,000,000 shares has
been granted to certain eligible persons in the exercise price of
HK$0.2506 on 9 September 2020 and 363,000,000 shares has
been granted to certain eligible persons in the exercise price of
HK$0.168 on 30 November 2020. For details, please refer to the
Announcement on 30 November 2020.

RELATED PARTY AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions of the Group
undertaken in the usual course of business are set out in note
40 to the consolidated financial statements.

There were no transactions required to be disclosed as
non-exempt connected transactions or non-exempt continuing
connected transactions in accordance with the GEM Listing
Rules during the year. The Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the
latest practicable date prior to the issue of this report, the
Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the
GEM Listing Rules.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of significant events of the Group after the reporting
period are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and the code provisions as set out in the Code
on Corporate Governance Practices (the “"CG Code”) as set out
in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules. The information on
the principal corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out on pages 49 to 63 of this report.

AUDITORS

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2021 have been audited by Elite Partners CPA
Limited. Elite Partners CPA Limited will retire, and being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Guo Gelin
Chairman
Hong Kong, 30 June 2021
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Corporate Governanc

The Board and the management of the Company are committed
to the maintenance of good corporate governance practices
and process. The Company believes that good corporate
governance provides a framework that is essential for effective
management, a healthy corporate culture, successful business
growth and enhancing shareholders’ value.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and the code provisions (the “Code Provision”)
as set out in the CG Code as set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The principles adopted by the Company emphasize
a quality board, sound internal controls and transparency and
accountability to shareholders. In the opinion of the Board, the
Company has complied with the CG Code for the year ended 31
March 2021, save and except for the following:

1. Code provision A.1.3 requires that notice of at least 14
days should be given of a regular board meeting to give
all directors an opportunity to attend. For all other board
meetings, reasonable notice should be given. Due to the
practical reasons, 14 days' advanced notifications have
not been given to all meetings of the Board. Reasons
have been given in the notifications in respect of those
meetings of the Board where it is not practical to give 14
days’ advanced notification. The Board will use its best
endeavor to give 14 days’ advanced notifications of Board
meeting to the extent practicable.

2. Code provision A.2.1 requires the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separated and should not
be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive
should be clearly established and set out in writing. With
effect from 1 November 2018, the roles of chairman and
chief executive is separated and were not performed by
the same individual.
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CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the directors, its employees, and
the directors and employees of its subsidiaries and holding
companies (the “Relevant Employees”), who may likely possess
inside information on the Company or its securities, on terms
no less exacting than the required standard of dealings set out
in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors and the Relevant Employees,
they all confirmed that they had complied with the required
standard of dealings and the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by directors adopted by the Company
during the year.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Board consisted of
seven directors, including three executive Directors, four
non-executive Director and four independent non-executive
Directors.

The Board has a balance of skill and experience appropriate
for the requirements of the business of the Company, and
demonstrates a proper diversity with its directors coming from
different backgrounds, nationality, professional and industries.
The Director’s biographical information is set out in the
section headed "Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this report. There is no financial, business,
family or other material or relevant relationships among the
Directors.

CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 requires the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separated and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between
the chairman and chief executive should be clearly established
and set out in writing. With effect from 1 November 2018, the
roles of chairman and chief executive is separated and were not
performed by the same individual.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has throughout the year met the requirements
of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least
three independent non-executive Directors with at least one
of them possessing appropriate professional qualifications,
accounting or related financial management expertise. At all
times during the year, the independent non-executive Directors
represent at least one-third of the Board pursuant to Rule 5.05A
of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company has received from each of independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his
independence, and the Company considers that these directors
to be independent under Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

LIABILITY INSURANCE FOR THE DIRECTORS

The Company has arranged for appropriate Directors and
Officers liability insurance coverage to indemnify the Directors
and Officers for their liabilities in respect of legal action against
them.

RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES
AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND
MANAGEMENT

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for
promoting the success of the Company by the direction and
supervision of the Company’s business and affairs and the
ultimate responsibility for the day to day management of
the Company which is delegated to the Chairman and the
management.

All Directors have full access to all the information of the
Company as well as the services and advice from the
company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”)
and management. The Directors may, upon request, seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances,
at the Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the
company.

The Board reserves for its decision for all major issues relating
to policy matters, internal control, strategies, budgets, risk
management, material transactions, financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant operational
issues of the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing
decisions of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily
operation and management are delegated to the management.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other
offices held by them and the Board regularly reviews the
contribution required from each Director to perform his
responsibilities to the Company.
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DIRECTORS" ATTENDANCE RECORD AT MEETINGS

The Board regularly meets in persons or through other
electronic means of communication to review and determine
the overall strategic direction and objectives and approve
quarterly, interim and annual results, and other significant
matters. Due notices of the meetings are given to all Directors
to attend and include matters for discussion. Details of the
attendance of each member of the Board at the meetings of
the Board, its respective committees and the general meetings
during the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out as follows:

ESCERHERTE
EEREHASEFRNEBEMETRAS
REMEH UENRETRERBS AR
B BUFE FHRFEEZEUARER
N EEFE - EHEABAETET I
FEHZ2RER  HFRAKTHRIEE -
EEREKENBE-T-_—F=A=1—8
LFEAREFEEH HEAZRERR
RABZHEERFHBERINMT

Meetings attended/held
HESERY ERETNY

Audit Remuneration Nomination General

Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting

ENZES ¥MzES REZEE RRAE

g
Executive Directors UTES
Mr. Guo Gelin (Chairmar) IRATE(EE) 14/30
Mr. Mou Zhongwei BRREEE (a) 15/23
Mr. Deng Li Berk (b) 38
Mr. Wang Ronggian THERE (©) 0/1
Mr. Chow Chi Wah Vincent AEERE (0) 6/17
Mr. Hu Chao Lt ©) 10/20
Non-Executive Directors :#TES
Mr. Wang Qiang THEA ) 12/23
Mr. Kuang Quanzhuang BEfLE ® 1/8
Mr. Li Guangying ThEEE (h 116
Mr. Wang Hanjing TESEE (i 116
Mr. Wang Dequn TE#LE (J) 0/4
Mr. Mei Kaij BRELE (k) 02
Independent Non- BUFHTES

Executive Directors

Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua FEELE U] 2/30
Mr. Luo i BELH (m) 12/23
Ms. Wu Hong Rzt (n) 2/2
Mr. Li Jianxing FEARE (0) 112
Ms. Ng Yin Ling Elaine REELL (n) 2/2
Dr. Santos Antonio Maria HEEEL () 7116
Mr. Wong Ching Keung TEREHE ] 18/26
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DIRECTORS" ATTENDANCE RECORD AT MEETINGS

(Continued)
Notes:

(@)

Mr. Mou Zhongwei was appointed as an executive Director with
effect from 19 August 2020.

Mr. Deng Li was appointed as an executive Director with effect
from 11 January 2021.

Mr. Wang Ronggian was resigned as an executive Director with
effect from 19 June 2020.

Mr. Chow Chi Wah Vincent was resigned as an executive Director
with effect from 23 November 2020.

Mr. Hu Chao was resigned as an executive Director with effect
from 14 December 2020.

Mr. Wang Qiang was appointed as an non-executive Director with
effect from 19 August 2020.

Mr. Kuang Quanzhuang was appointed as an non-executive
Director with effect from 11 January 2021.

Mr. Li Guangying was appointed as an non-executive Director
with effect from 23 February 2021.

Mr. Wang Hanjing was appointed as an non-executive Director
with effect from 25 February 2021.

Mr. Wang Dequn was resigned as an non-executive Director with
effect from 6 August 2020.

Mr. Mei Kaji was appointed as an non-executive Director with
effect from 11 January 2021 and resigned with effect from 23
February 2021.

Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua was resigned as an independent non-
executive Director with effect from 31 Mary 2021.

Mr. Luo Ji was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 19 August 2020.

Ms. Wu Hong was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 4 March 2021.
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DIRECTORS" ATTENDANCE RECORD AT MEETINGS

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(0)  Mr. Li Jianxing was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 5 March 2021.

(p)  Ms. Ng Yin Ling Elaine was resigned as an independent non-
executive Director with effect from 30 June 2020.

()  Dr. Santos Antonio Maria was resigned as an independent non-
executive Director with effect from 20 November 2020.

(r) Mr. Wong Ching Keung was resigned as an independent non-
executive Director with effect from 1 March 2021.

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairlady also held
meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without
the presence of executive Directors during the Year.

Board minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are open
for inspection by the Directors.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Directors are aware of their individuals and collective
responsibilities to the shareholders for the success and
wellbeing of the Company. To strengthen the effectiveness of
the management, the Board has established three committees,
namely, the audit committee (the "Audit Committee”), the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and
the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) to
oversee corresponding aspects of the Company's affairs. All
Board committees of the Company have defined written terms
of reference. The terms of reference of the Board committees
are posted on the Company’s website and the GEM website
of the Stock Exchange, and are available to shareholders upon
request.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company had established the Audit Committee on 20 March
2001. In order to comply with the revised CG Code, the terms
of reference of the Audit Committee was revised on 1 January
2021. The formation of the Audit Committee with written terms
of reference is in compliance with Rules 5.29 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, among
other things (a) to review the Group’s annual report, interim
report and quarterly reports; (b) to discuss and review with the
auditors of the Company on the scope and findings of the audit;
and (c) to supervise the financial reporting process and internal
control procedures and overall risk management of the Group.
The Group's unaudited quarterly and interim results and audited
annual results and consolidated financial statements during the
year ended 31 March 2021 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee, which is of opinion that the preparation of such
results complied with the applicable accounting standards and
requirements and that adequate disclosure have been made.

The composition of the Audit Committee during the Year and up
to the date of this report is as follows:

Mr. Li Jianxing (Chairman) (Appointed on 31 May 2021)

Mr. Luo Ji (Appointed on 19 August 2020)

Mr. Kuang Quanzhuang (Appointed on 11 January 2021)
Ms. Wu Hong (Appointed on 4 March 2021)

Dr. Santos Antonio Maria (Resigned on 20 November 2020)
Mr. Wong Ching Keung (Resigned on 1 March 2021)

Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua (Resigned on 31 May 2021)

Dr. Wu Bin (Appointed on 25 June 2021)
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continuec)

All of the members of the Audit Committee are independent
non-executive Directors. The chairman of the Audit Committee,
Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua, who has extensive accounting and
related financial reporting expertise. The Audit Committee held
four meetings during the Year. Details of the attendance of the
Audit Committee meetings as prescribed aforesaid.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established with specific
written terms of reference in accordance with the relevant
provisions of the GEM Listing Rules, and it is responsible for
making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure in relation to remuneration of the Directors
and senior management. It schedules to meet at least once
a year to review and determine the remuneration packages
of the executive Directors and senior management and to
make recommendation to the Board of the remuneration
of non-executive Director. In determining and approving
the remuneration of Directors and senior management, the
Remuneration Committee will take into consideration of various
factors such as market competitiveness, individual performance
and profitability of the Company and with reference to the
written term of reference pursuant to the Corporate Governance
Code as set out in the requirements under rules 5.34 and 5.35
to the GEM Listing Rules.

The composition of the Remuneration Committee during the
Year and up to the date of this report is as follows:

Mr. Luo Ji (Chairman) (Appointed on 19 August 2020)

Mr. Kuang Quanzhuang (Appointed on 11 January 2021)
Ms. Wu Hong (Appointed on 4 March 2021)

Mr. Li Jianxing (Appointed on 5 March 2021)

Dr. Santos Antonio Maria (Resigned on 20 November 2020)
Mr. Wong Ching Keung (Resigned on 1 March 2021)

Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua (Resigned on 31 May 2021)

Dr. Wu Bin (Appointed on 25 June 2021)

All of the members of the Remuneration Committee are
independent non-executive Directors. During the Year, the
Remuneration Committee convened five meetings during
the Year and has reviewed the remuneration policy and
structure relating to the Directors and senior management of
the Company. Details of the attendance of the Remuneration
Committee meetings as prescribed aforesaid.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established by the Company on
29 March 2012. In order to comply with the revised CG Code, the
terms of reference of the Nomination Committee was revised on
1 January 2021. The primary duties of the nomination committee
include reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board, identifying individuals suitably qualified to become
Directors, assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors and making recommendations to the
Board on appointment and re-appointment of Directors.

The composition of the Nomination Committee during the Year
and up to the date of this report is as follows:

Mr. Guo Gelin (Chairman) (Appointed on 14 December 2020)

Mr. Luo Ji (Appointed on 19 August 2020)

Mr. Kuang Quanzhuang (Appointed on 11 January 2021)
Ms. Wu Hong (Appointed on 4 March 2021)

Mr. Li Jianxing (Appointed on 5 March 2021)

Mr. Hu Chao (Resigned on 14 December 2020)

Dr. Santos Antonio Maria (Resigned on 20 November 2020)
Mr. Wong Ching Keung (rResigned on 1 March 2021)

Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua (Resigned on 31 May 2021)

Dr. Wu Bin (Appointed on 25 June 2021)

The majority members of the nomination committee are
independent non-executive Directors. During the Year, the
Nomination Committee held five meetings reviewed the
size, diversity and composition of the Board. Details of
the attendance of the Nomination Committee meetings as
prescribed aforesaid.
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BOARD NOMINATION POLICY

The Nomination Committee is responsible for the formulation of
nomination policies, making recommendations to Shareholders
on directors standing for re-election, providing sufficient
biographical details of directors to enable Shareholders to make
an informed decision on the re-election, and where necessary,
nominating appropriate persons to fill causal vacancies or as
additions to the Board. The nomination committee from time
to time reviews the composition of the Board with particular
regard to ensuring that there is an appropriate number of
directors on the Board independent of management. He also
identifies and nominates qualified individuals for appointment
as new directors of the Company.

New directors of the Company will be appointed by the Board.
The Nomination Committee will take into consideration criteria
such as expertise, experience, integrity and commitment when
considering new director appointments.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5 of GEM Listing Rules, all
Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant. The company secretary reports
from time to time the latest changes and development of
the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices and other
regulatory regime to the Directors with written materials, on the
professional knowledge and latest development of regulatory
requirements related to director’'s duties and responsibilities.
Up to the date of this report, all Directors have participated
in continuous professional development by reading in-house
training handbook, relevant materials or attending training
seminar on the topics related to corporate governance as
follows:

Name of Directors

Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Guo Gelin (Chairman) FIEMEE(FE)
Mr. Mou Zhongwei BRERE
Mr. Deng Li B %4
Mr. Wang Ronggian FERBERE
Mr. Chow Chi Wah Vincent B ESLE
Mr. Hu Chao tH R 5 A&
Non-Executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Wang Qiang FogkaE
Mr. Kuang Quanzhuang BB #E AL % A
Mr. Li Guangying THhELE
Mr. Wang Hanjing TESEE
Mr. Wang Dequn FEREEAE
Mr. Mei Kaji BREREE
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIUFHITES
Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua FEELE
Mr. Luo Ji BHEEE
Ms. Wu Hong Rzt
Mr. Li Jianxing TEITEE
Ms. Ng Yin Ling Elaine REFELZT
Dr. Santos Antonio Maria MEREET
Mr. Wong Ching Keung FiEs& &£
Dr. Wu Bin REBEL
Dr. Wen Jingzhou B EL

All the Directors also understand the importance of continuous
professional development and are committed to participating
any suitable training or reading relevant materials in order to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
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CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

During the Year, the Company continued to adopt a code of
conduct regarding Director’s securities transactions on terms
no less exacting than the required standard of dealings as set
out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Directors have complied
with such code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
the Directors for the Year.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining and
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control
of the Group. The internal control system is to safeguard the
assets of the Group and the shareholders’ investment and to
ensure the reliability of financial reporting as well as compliance
with the relevant requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.
During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Board had reviewed
the effectiveness of the system of internal control of the
Group, which covered all material aspects including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions of the Group. The Board also considered the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experiences of staff of the
Group's accounting and financial reporting function, and their
training program and budget.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the financial statements of the Group and
ensure that the financial statements are in accordance with
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
The Directors also ensure the timely publication of the financial
statements of the Group. The Directors confirm that, to the
best of their knowledge, information and belief, having made
all reasonable enquiries, they are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company

about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report.
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OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2021, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the remuneration paid and
payable to the auditors, in respect of the audit services to the
Group were approximately HK$620,000 (2020: HK$690,000).

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

The disclosure of the Group’s information in a reasonable and
time manner by the Board is to facilitate the shareholders as
well as the investors to have better understanding in relation
to the business performance, operations and strategies of
the Group. Through our website which allows the Company’s
potential and existing investors as well as the public to assess
and acquire the up-to-date company and financial information.

Information of the Company is disseminated to the
shareholders, the investors and the public are as follows:

— Delivery of the annual, interim and quarterly reports; and

— Publication of announcements on the annual, interim
and quarterly results on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company’s website, and issue of other
announcements and notices, and shareholders’ circulars
in accordance with the continuing disclosure obligations
under the GEM Listing Rules.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Au Yeung Yiu Chung (“Mr. AU Yeung”) has been appointed
as the Company Secretary on 23 May 2018. Mr. Au Yeung holds
a Bachelor of Science in Applied Biology with Biotechnology,
the degree of Master of Business Administration from University
of Wales, Newport and the degree of Master of Corporate
Governance from The Open University of Hong Kong. He is
a fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators in the United Kingdom. During the Year, Mr. Au
Yeung has undertaken over 15 hours of professional training
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules 5.15 to update his skills and
knowledge.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary. The Company Secretary reports to the
Chairman on board governance matters, and is responsible for
ensuring that Board procedures are properly followed and for
facilitating communications among Directors as well as with
Shareholders and management.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS
Convening an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association,
extraordinary general meetings (the "EGM"”) of the Company
shall be convened on the requisition of any one or more
shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.
Such shareholders shall have the right, by written requisition to
the Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require
an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and the EGM shall be
held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s), as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General
Meetings

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary of the Company at the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong, specifying the
shareholding information of the shareholder, his/her contact
details and the proposal he/she intends to put forward at
general meeting regarding any specified transaction/business
and its supporting documents.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continuea)

Making Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send written enquiries or
requests, either by post, by facsimiles or by email, together
with his/her contact details, such as postal address, email or
fax, addressing to the Board of the Company at the following
address or facsimile number or via email:

Room 8212, Unit 01, 82/F,
International Commerce Centre,
1 Austin Road West,

Kowloon, Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 3583-5683

Email: info@farnovagp-hk.com

All enquiries shall first be collected by the Company Secretary
who shall report to the executive Directors periodically. The
executive Directors shall review the enquiries and collect
answers from relevant department. The executive Directors will
reply the enquiries directly or authorise the Company Secretary
to reply enquiries in writing.

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and
send the original duly signed written requisition or enquiry to
the above address and provide their full name, contact details
and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholder
original duly signed written requisition or enquiry is disclosed as
required by law.

Investor Relations

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of
transparency is a key to enhance investor relations. It is
committed to a policy of open and timely disclosure of
corporate information to its shareholders and investment public.
The Company updates its shareholders on its latest business
developments and financial performance through its annual,
interim and quarterly reports. The corporate website of the
Company (http://farnov.ocoplus.com) has provided an effective
communication platform to the public and the shareholders.
During the review period, there had been no significant change
in the Company's constitutional documents.
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Environmental, Social and Government Report

RE  dERERKE

INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE

This report is the second Environmental, Social and Governance
Report (the "ESG Report”) in compliance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the "ESG Reporting
Guide”) in Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. This report
discloses the Group’s performance on Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG") focusing on the accomplishments over the
period between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021 (the “Year").

The ESG Report intends to give insight into the approach
adopted and actions taken by the Group regarding its operations
and sustainability that have implication for the Group and the
interest to stakeholders. The ESG Report has been presented
into two aspects, environmental and social aspects which will
focus on our two core businesses, provision of digital television
services in Hong Kong and the PRC and the provision of car
beauty services in Hong Kong. During the Year under review,
the Group committed to a high standard of corporate social
responsibility and strictly complied with the requirements
of relevant laws and regulations as addressed by the ESG
Reporting Guide.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT

A.1 Emissions and pollutants

The environmental pollutants generated by the Group in
this year mainly include: wastewater, gases, hazardous
wastes and non-hazardous wastes.

Discharge of wastewater and related measures

The wastewater generated by the Group mainly refers to
the industrial wastewater and domestic wastewater. The
industrial wastewater includes the wastewater from car
wash, car repair and maintenance and equipment cleaning
water. The domestic wastewater mainly refers to the
waste water generated in the office.

To comply with the advocacy of “Green Garage” launched
by the Environmental Protection Department, the Group
has built suitable drainage systems in the workshop
and only discharge treated wastewater to foul drains.
Our Group is not encouraged to allow water to run
continuously from taps and sprays in order to reduce
wastewater discharge. To ensure the effective use of water
and lessen the waste due to leakage, we have performed
regularly check-up for our equipment.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT (continuea)

Emissions and pollutants «continuead)
Discharge of gases and related measures

The gases generated by the Group mainly refers to the
odour and paint mist generated by the paint spraying and
exhaust emission generated by repairing and maintaining
the venhicle.

The process is conducted in paint spray booth or
designated compartments in a workshop. During paint
spraying, the doors of the paint spray booth is closed
tightly to avoid leakage of odour and paint mist. The paint
spray booth and designated compartment are installed
with air pollution control facilities including paint mist
filtering facilities. As the Group also provides the vehicle
check-up for exhaust emission, exhaust is emitted during
the check-up. We conduct the engine tuning in the
restricted area in order to decrease the nuisance caused
by exhaust gas. We do not allow vehicle exhaust gas to
escape uncontrolled, affecting nearby residents. Our
Group also maintains the facilities regularly.

Discharge of hazardous wastes and related
measures

The hazardous wastes generated by the Group mainly
refers to organic solvents and paint generated by the paint

spraying.

As these wastes are chemical wastes, it must be handled
with due care in order to avoid pollution of soil or drainage
system by chemical waste. We store these wastes in the
designated areas having wall and impermeable floor. We
handle these hazardous wastes according to the statutory
requirements.

Discharge of non-hazardous wastes and related
measure

The non-hazardous wastes generated by the Group mainly
refer to household garbage.

We have cleaned and transported the household garbage
timely for not generating the smell, stink and flies pollution
to the neighbourhood.
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A.

ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT (continuea)

A.2 Use of resources

66

The Group has mainly utilized the electricity and water
during the course of business.

The electricity is consumed through lighting and
air-conditioning during production and broadcasting and
the emissions from business travel through Hong Kong and
the PRC.

During the Year, the Group reported consumption of the
sum of 52,473 kWh of electricity.

The water is consumed through domestic use. The
domestic use refers to the office.

During the Year, the Group reported consumption of the
sum of 1,271 m3 of water.

To consume electricity and water effectively, the Group
adopts the following measures to reduce the consumption,
including:

o turning off the electronic equipment when it is not
being used and switch the lights off before leaving
the office and the workstations;

. repair and maintain the electronic devices regularly
to avoid overconsumption due to malfunction;

o deploying energy-efficient devices which carry
Energy Label issued by the Electrical and Mechanical

Service Department; and

° advocating the temperature at the office and
workstations to be remained at 25.5 degree Celsius.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT (continuea) A RIEHE#)
A.2 Use of resources (continued) A2ERER®)
The resources used by the Group from offices relates to AEEBRAEFRAERIEAK - AE
water, electricity and paper consumption. KA -
GENDER GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION
MR IRV E

m Female m PRC

g A

Male Hong Kong

S B

A.3 Environmental and natural resources ABRERRARER

The Group is a member of the community and is proactive AEBATE-—BEVERREIRSE
to preserve the environment.
The Group has developed the Environmental Management REBSZAERREERS /A
System which has been certified to comply with 1SO14001. ISO14001 2 RFE - AEE BT M E E
The Group will regularly spread the practical tips and ErREESPBEEBERR2ERA NI R
information about the environmental friendly action to the BER URERLEBHRBERNE
management and employees to minimize the impact of the 2o

business on the environment.
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A.

ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT (continuea)

A.3 Environmental and natural resources

68

(Continued)

To be an environmental-friendly member, we adopt the
following measure to use the natural resources effectively
apart from electricity and water, including:

. reducing the use of paper and encourage duplex
printing and reusing of single-side printed papers;

. strictly complies with relevant environmental laws
and regulations towards local laws and regulations
on environment in the PRC and Hong Kong such
as Environmental Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China (FEARZXMBEIRERE L),
Law of The People’s Republic of China on The
Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution
(REARAMB KRS EM8%) and Urban
Drainage and Sewage Treatment Ordinance <3 #& Bt
K ERT K B 3B A B ; and

o performing regular assessment in analysing data in
aims to better manage the use of resources.

SOCIAL ASPECT

Employment and Labour practices

The Group advocate employee-friendly environment with
fair and equal opportunities for people with different
age, gender, race, colour, sexual orientation, disability or
marital status in order to increase the satisfaction and
sense of belongings of employees. The Group also provide
competitive remuneration for employees and try to provide
the platform for employees to realize the personal value.

The Group has established a set of comprehensive human

resources policies regarding employment, promotion,
dismissal, training, welfare and remuneration.
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SOCIAL ASPECT (continued)

Employment and Labour practices
(Continued)

The Group therefore complies with the following rules and
regulations strictly, including, Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China (h#ZEARKLMBILB)E) (“the PRC
Labour Law"), Labour Contract Law of People’s Republic of
China (FREARKMELEHERE) (“the PRC Labour
Contract Law”), Hong Kong Employee Ordinance, Hong
Kong Employees’ Compensation Ordinance and other
relevant employment laws applicable to the jurisdictions
where the Group operates.

The Group have then formulated the human resources
policies and procedures and additional bonus and
incentives into the remuneration system. The remuneration
of employees is determined by duties and align with the
market rate. The welfare that the Group provides includes
retirement pension, medical insurance and so on. Staff
handbook also highlights important information of policies
on compensation, employee benefits including medical
insurance, rights on termination, business conduct and
leave benefits.

Employees’ performance is evaluated on a timely basis so
that it could be also reflected in employees’ remuneration
accordingly. The Group values the personal development
of employees and establishes training programmes for
employees to join so that it could cultivate the potential
future leader.

Social activities such as annual dinner, team building and
other social events are organised for employees in order
to have their work-life balance, decrease employees
pressure and discomfort, boost the morale of employees
and enhance the bonding among employees.

Apart from that, the Group review and may update the
human resources policies from time to time to prevent
from violating the labor laws.

HEEHE 2
BEREIER#Z)

At - AEBEBEBEST TR AR
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VEBEIRE UWEEARAREERE
A o

AEERREERTEFBRE HERER
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B.

SOCIAL ASPECT (continued)

B.2 Health and Safety

70

Employees are crucial to the Group and maintaining
employee’s occupational health and safety plays an
important role for the Group.

The Group operates in both PRC and Hong Kong. The
Group then strictly complies with the related laws and
regulation including Regulation on Work-related Injury
Insurance (T1&{R B & B), Measures for the recognition
of work-related Injuries (T & R F 5 /%), Law of the
People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control
of Occupational Diseases (H % R F1 B B 2 R Br 65D,
Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste) (General) Regulation
of Hong Kong <Rz Bz 12 (b 2 EE¥)(— &) FI1) and
Occupational Safety and Health Regulation of Hong Kong
(B EZ2REBEEH) for a healthy and comfortable
working environment.

There is also fire prevention protection including
fire-fighting equipment such as fire extinguisher and fire
detection equipment are equipped and checked regularly
to prevent any fire outbreak. Staff also participate in
regular fire drill and smoking is prohibited in all areas.

Apart from this, the Group operates sales of new energy
electric vehicle which store various kinds of chemicals that
might harm the safety. The Group cast more attention to
store and to handle these chemical timely and properly
and enhance the employees’ awareness so that it could
prevent from any gases leakage, fire or explosion due to
inappropriate storage. The Group has an instructor guide
for using the materials and the reminders for using those
materials.

For the Year, the Group has reported zero work related
fatalities and work injuries.
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B. SOCIAL ASPECT (continuea)
B.3 Development and Training

The Group values the personal development of employees
and therefore establishes training programmes for
employees to join so that it could cultivate the potential
future leader.

The Group encourages for lifelong learning in order
to adapt to this ever-changing world. Employees are
encouraged for continuous development so that they can
broaden and expand their skillset and mindset through
training, grow in the Group and ultimately could contribute
to our society.

To realise the growth of staff in the Group, various
internal and external trainings and workshops periodically
throughout the year are provided. Those programmes
focus on aspects including but not limited to financing,
accounting, corporate governance and others directly
related to the business of the Group. More importantly, the
trainings focus on improving the employees’ knowledge,
skills and attitude. The Group reserves a fund for Directors
and all levels of staff for training and reviews annually if
the fund is sufficient.

To facilitate the new staff to familiarise with the Group,
orientation and on-job training are provided. Staff
evaluation is performed annually so that both the Group
and the staff review what can strengthen or improve
afterwards.

HEEHE )
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B.

SOCIAL ASPECT (continued)

B.4 Labour Standards

The Group is strictly obeyed to the PRC Labour Law and
Employee Ordinance, Chapter 57 of the law of Hong Kong.
We strictly prohibit to hire any individuals under legal
working age or without any identification documents.

In the recruitment process, human resources department
will request the candidate to present effective
identification document. Other than that, the human
resources will perform reference check accordingly to the
materials provided. The Group has strictly obeyed related
local law on equal employment opportunity. The Group
signs the labour contracts with all employees with mutual
agreement.

The Group sets up an anonymous whistling-blowing
system and encourage staff to blow the whistle if they
are forced to do against their will or under threat of
punishment. Through such system, the Group could
become more transparent and fair.

For the Year, there is no labour dispute between the
Company and its staff.

B.5 Supply Chain Management

72

The Group values every stakeholder, especially suppliers,
as it could bring profound impact on our business.

It is believed that maintaining good relationship with
suppliers could lead to have competitive edge, enhance
the quality brought to customers and ultimately to have
better results. This year, the suppliers of the Group
maintained steadily which provided the services and
materials to the Group stably as well. The Group believe
that these suppliers could maintain long-term business
relationship and ensures the economic interest, and
legitimate rights and interests of both suppliers and the
Group.
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B. SOCIAL ASPECT (continuea)
B.6 Product Responsibility

The Group values significantly to our services quality
and the loyalty of our customers and business partners.
Customers top our priority and we focus on their service
experience and after-sales services.

The Group establish and launch customer communication
system so that customers give feedback and the
Group could gather, handle and analyse the feedback.
Subsequently, the Group would allow to have better
response in order to meet the need and expectations of
customers. From achieving this, the Group could retain
loyal customers.

Apart from that, the Group gather data of customers
personal information and services enjoyed. Therefore,
the Group establish the information management system
policies to provide guidance to staff on maintaining
and using the data and restrict the access or use
where necessary to protect the interest of the Group.
Data is classified into different levels according to
the confidentiality as public, internal, and restricted/
confidential. In order to protect consumer data and
privacy, we will keep the client information together and
destroy on a timely basis with due care.

B.7 Anti-Corruption

Anti-corruption and money laundering

The Group values the integrity and justice enormously. The
management of the Group establish the code of conduct
and employees in the Group must strictly comply with the
codes in their daily duties. Through communications with
employees from time to time, the rules and regulations
are frequently conveyed. The Group expect the employees
obey the law, uphold their principles, and reject any
beneficial temptations in order to prevent from involving in
corruption and money laundering.
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B.

SOCIAL ASPECT (continued)

B.7 Anti-Corruption (continued)

Anti-corruption and money laundering (Continued)

The Group strictly abide by all relevant laws including,
Criminal law of the People’s Republic of China (r/ %
AR HEFE A L), the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of
the People’s Republic of China (R ZEARHEXME & T

&5 %), Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong
Kong, Theft Ordinance of Hong Kong, Corruption Prevent
Guide for the Listed Company of Hong Kong and all other

relevant laws and regulations.

Directors, their associates or, any shareholders of the
Company who own more than 5% of the issued share
capital of the Company, do not have any interest in
the Group's five largest customers and the five largest
suppliers.

During the Year, the Group has not received any complaint
or notification from governmental authorities regarding
non-compliance of the Group or its employees with
anti-corruption laws referred to above.

Whistle-blowing Policy

The Group has a whistleblower policy which a complaint
channel is established for employees or other parties to
confidentially and/or anonymously report any actual or
suspected occurrence of improper conduct involving the
Group.

B.8 Community investment

74

Community involvement

The Group values the community that it lives and takes
its responsibility to promote the sustainable development
and build a harmonious society. We plan to activate
launching different kinds of contributions including,
donation, charities, and so on. Assessment will be taken
on how to integrate business activities with the interests
of community. Also, the Group is committed to provide
career opportunities to the locals and promote the
development of the community’s economy.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report

elite
< partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To the Shareholders of
FARNOVA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Farnova Group Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 81 to 191, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2021, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

BHEESNEER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional FIRBEFEEABRERMOBXHE - R A
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the HAHBEGAUBEHENEAEEEE S
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These TH - ZEZEBE R RMBAEREAUBERR
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the REHEAEARBERE mMEMITeHZEEE
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming IREBIZER -

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Key audit matter
HREGTER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
EMHNESTNMEYERESSE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables
B 5 3008 2 0 (8 AT A

Refer to note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.
2RV HEMERMFF23 -

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had trade receivables
of approximately HK$23,064,000, net of allowance for
credit losses.

RZEBEZ—F=HA=+—H  EBEEB2EBEFHEHKX
H(RHMKREEERE®) L /23,064,000 7T °

We had identified allowance for credit losses of
trade receivables as a key audit matter because
significant judgments and estimates had to be made
by management. Management has determined that
impairment loss of approximately HK$498,000 in
respect of trade receivables was reversed during the
year ended 31 March 2021.
HRERHAGRMEHEHEREBEL  RMAEHE
SRBFEBEZEEEEREERABAEETEE -
EREEBOECNEE-_ T F=ZA=+t—HBHLFE
[l & 5 e W 5K T8 2 R B 85 18 49498,000% 7T °
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Our audit procedures to address the impairment
assessment of trade receivables included the following:
BMEEESEWNRBREN G CEZEFEEATS
15 :

o Understood, evaluated and validated on a sample
basis the design and operating effectiveness of
management control over the collection and the
assessment of the recoverability of receivables;

e THHEEMLE TH WELKRETEREHER
FRIE 2 W B A E AT Bl 2 R e R IR E R U

o Tested on a sample basis the aging of trade
receivables at the end of the reporting period;
e MEBRBREBEIEWRBEBRBEARZEER:

o Checked on a sample basis the settlement
subsequent to the end of the reporting period to
the trade receivables; and

e MNEWmEHAERE HEZEWRRBZEEETH
BgE: R

o Assessed the appropriateness of the expected
credit loss (“ECL") provisioning methodology,
examined the key data inputs on a sample basis
to assess their accuracy and completeness,
and challenged the assumptions, including both
historical and forward looking information, used to
determine the ECL.

e THEEHEEBE(BHEEEBEBENDBERER
DRE SRBMEIXAERZEHEB® A KT
HMEEREREZEY VERARETESREE
BEZBESR BEELRAEMEER -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.
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Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chan Wai Nam, William with
Practising Certificate number P05957.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 30 June 2021

10/F, 8 Observatory Road,

Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meBEakEMEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 82— - —F=A=+—HIFE

2021
—EBEC-—F
HK$'000

TR

2020
—EZEF
HK$'000
FHL
(Restated)
(LE5)

continuing operations BERE
Revenue A 8 67,086 20,000
Cost of sales and services $HE R BRI AL A (43,698) (17,000)
Gross profit EH 23,388 3,000
Other income H i e A 9 12 8
Other gain/(loss), net Hipas /(BB FE 10 9,845 (8,546)
Distribution costs o 85 R AR (50) =
Administrative expenses THEHR (23,910) (23,124)
Net fair value loss on financial assets at fair BARBEFABRE 2
value through profit or loss tREBEEZLANE
B8 24 (1) (1,207)
Finance costs BE KA 11 (6,756) (14,366)
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETEHAER(BB) 12 2,528 (44,235)
Income tax expense P15 Bl &2 14 (156) -
Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing SEREEB
operations FERA/(EE) 2,372 (44,235)
Discontinued operation BRIEEEEK
Profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued BERIEREEBZ
operation FERF(HB) 15 14 (4,436)
Profit/(loss) for the year FERF/(EB) 2,386 (48,671)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) Hip 2wz, (FIx)
ltem that may be reclassified subsequentlyto H#E R EEHHBEEER
profit or loss: ZIEH:
Exchange differences on translation of BREBINEBREE CE
foreign operations HEH 266 (423)
Reclassification of foreign currency HEFARINERE G
translation reserve upon disposal of BEHOHE
subsidiaries 783 1,281
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for FE2EKE (AX)
the year B 3,435 (47,813)
EREERRARATY —2--FFH 81




Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REBRBEREMEEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B#E =T =_—F=A=+—HILFE

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to:

ATATRGEFERET,/

2021
—E-—F
Notes HK$'000

o &E TR

2020
—EZEF
HK$'000
FHL
(Restated)
(LE5)

(B#8) :
- Owners of the Company -ARREBA 3,435 (48,589)
- Non-controlling interests -EERER - (82)
3,435 (48,671)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for UTATEREFEZE
the year attributable to: Wz (FX)BE:
- Owners of the Company -RREEBA 3,435 (47,308)
- Non-controlling interests - JFPE R RS - (505)
3,435 (47,813)
Earning/(loss) per share SRAF(BEB)
From continuing and discontinued operations HREFHBELLERDKRIEE
BES
- Basic and diluted (HK cents) - EARREE W 16 0.04 (1.21)
From continuing operations REFBELEER
- Basic and diluted (HK cents) - AR E GBI 16 0.04 (1.10)
From discontinued operations RERFEEETR
- Basic and diluted (HK cents) - EARREE GBI 0.00 0.11)
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Cconsolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B BAARR R

As at 31 March 2021 RA—Z-—F=A=+—H

2021
—_E_—=F

HK$’000
FTET

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment W kR E 18 21 58
Right-of-use assets EREEE 19 1,469 54
Investment in an associate R—EBE A Z2&E 20 - =
1,490 112
current assets REBEE
Loan receivables B E R 22 - =
Trade receivables B 5 MWk IE 23 23,064 10,000
Prepayments, deposits and other FERFRE ek HMm
receivables FE W 3R IR 21 30,488 534
Financial assets at fair value through BEAnBEFfABERZZS®
profit or loss A E 24 - 202
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBELEEYD 25 25,183 149
78,735 10,885
current liabilities REAE
Trade payables B S ENRIA 26 21,777 7,677
Other payables and accruals H e 5108 & B AT
=93¢ 27 12,381 23,094
Amount due to a non-controlling BFRa—RIEZR
shareholder of a subsidiary A% B IE 28 - 4,198
Amount due to a director R —R2ESFHIE - 820
Borrowings - 29 163 16,366
Convertible bonds AT E S 31 - 80,753
Lease liabilities HEaE 30 868 25
Tax payables AT BIIR 161 2,235
35,350 135,168
Net current assets/(liabilities) REBEE (BB FE 43,385 (124,283)
Total assets less current liabilities #EERABHER 44,875 (124,171)
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As at 31 March 2021 R—Z-—4F=A=+—H

2021
—_E_—=F

HK$'000
FTET

Non-current liabilities kEREEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 30 623 =
Bond and interest payable EREHERFE 32 7,687 3,938
8,310 3,938

Net assets/(liabilities) BEE (AE)EH 36,565 (128,109)
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves AR & E
Share capital N 33 2,857 1,961
Reserves & 33,708 (125,928)
Equity attributable to owners of the KRG B ANEHER

Ccompany 36,565 (123,967)
Non-controlling interests FE = IR HE = = (4,142)
Total equity ERHAE 36,565 (128,109)

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2021

and were signed on its behalf by:

Guo Gelin
26 #% AR
Director

EZE
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Mou Zhongwei
B2EE
Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERREER

Share capital

Bx
HeS 00

Share
premium

B
HKS'000

184,403

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #& =%

Attributable to owners of the Company
ANAREARS

Equity

component of

convertible

bonds

TABRE%L

Merger
reserve

AHRR
HKS'000
?

Exchange  Accumulated
reserve losses

Eiff

Total

%‘f

(3

——F=A=t—RHLFE

Non-
controlling
interests

#ERRE
HK$ 000 HKS'000
i TRR

Total equity

Y 5

At 31 March 2019 R-B-7A§=A=1-B 77,638 (197 (433,208 (170,653) (7.61) (178,267)

Loss for the year FEEE - - - - - (48,147) (48,147) (524) [1867)

Other comprehensive (expense)/income LS TRV -

- Exchange differences on translation of -RENFHEL BN AR - - - - (442) - (42) 19 423)
foreign operations

- Reclassification of foreign currency -HE-RIRANERERRENAR - - - - - 1,281 1,081 - 1281
translation reserve upon disposal of a
subsidiary

Total comprehensive expense FE2AMRAE = = = - (42) (48,866) (47,308) (509) (47813
for the year

Shares issued under general mandate RE-BRREEAIRA 181 8407 - - - - 8,588 - 8,588

Conversion of convertiole bonds (note (biil) S #4788 2 (B 3 oii) 464 115,781 (39,524) - - - 76921 - 76921

Shares issued or to be ssued in respectof  SRAEHHEMEAIABTFEZ KA i 8441 - - - - 8485 - 8,485
bond interest payments (note (oiv) (M (oiv)

Disposal of  subsidiary HE-ATAT = s > . 5 s . 391 397

At 31 March 2020 ZECEESA=t-R 1961 317,032 38114 (197 (783 (480,094 (123967) (4142) (128,109)

Profitfor the year ER) ﬂ - - - - - 2,386 2,386 - 2,386

Other comprehensive income ]

- Exchange differences on translation of -hEs Mf%ﬁ FIERER - - - - 266 - 266 - 26
foreign operations

- Reclassification of foreign currency -HE-BIRANELEREENAE - - - - 783 - 783 - 783
translation reserve upon disposal of a
subsidiary

Total comprehensive income FEXENEAE - - - - 1,049 2,386 3,435 - 3435
for the year

Shares issued under general mandate RE-REELA2RH 196 69,717 - - - - 69,913 - 69,913

Conversion of convertiole bonds (note (b)) 3 #2742 (B 2 (bii) 640 17,151 (38,114) - - - 79,677 - 19,671

Shares issued or to be issued inrespectof  EXREFHSMEAARTFEALRA 60 7447 - - - - 1,507 - 7,507
bond interest payments (note (oiv)) (B blv

Disposal of a subsidiary HE-H - (8,182) - 13,304 - (5,122) - 4142 4142

At 31 March 2021 ZB--E=ZB=t-B 2,857 503,165+ - 13,107% 266* (482,830 36,565 - 36,565

e These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves *
of HK$33,708,000 (2020: HK$125,928,000) in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

1%33,708,0008 T (=T =
BT e

EHREEZRERDLR

T —FF®

ZERBEEBESRAVBRARAZES

= 4 125,928,000
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity ZREEEE R

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #& =2 =—F=A=+—HIFE

Notes:

(a)

(bi)

(bii)

(biii)

86

Share premium represents the excess of proceeds received over
the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued, less share
issue expenses. Pursuant to the Companies Act of Bermuda, the
Company's share premium account may be distributed in the
form of fully paid bonus shares.

Equity component of convertible bonds relates to convertible
bonds issued during the year.

On 25 October 2018, the Company and the bondholders of the
6% convertible bonds in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$130.0 million due on 5 November 2018 (the “CB 2018") and
the 6% convertible bonds in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$120.0 million due on 28 June 2019 (the “"CB 2019") (collective
refer the “CB” and the “Bondholders”) entered the supplemental
agreements, pursuant to which the Company agreed with the
Bondholders (i) to extend the maturity date of the CB 2018 and
the CB 2019 from the maturity date of 5 November 2018 and
28 June 2019 respectively to the extended maturity date of 31
December 2020, and (i) to change the interest payment terms
of the CB 2018 and the CB 2019 from interest of 6% per annum
payable annually to 8% per annum payable semi-annually. The
approval from the Stock Exchange has been granted and the
shareholders’ approval has been obtained at the special general
meeting of the Company dated 5 December 2018 to approve the
amendments to the terms of the CB.

As the terms of the CB have been amended, the CB has been
revalued as at the date of obtaining the shareholders’ approval
on the basis carried out at that day by an independent qualified
professional valuer not connected to the Group. The liability and
the equity components of the CB have been adjusted. A gain
on debt extinguishment of approximately HK$1.7 million was
recognised in the finance costs as the adjustment for the liability
component and a loss of approximately HK$39.5 million was
recorded in the equity transactions.

During the year, the bondholders of the CB 2018 have converted
the CB 2018 with the aggregate principal amount of HK$45 million
at conversion price of HK$0.05 per share into 900,000,000 shares.
(2020: aggregate principal amount of HK$50 million converted
into 1,000,000,000 shares). The bondholders of the CB 2019 have
converted the CB 2019 with the aggregate principal amount of
HK$35.0 million at conversion price of HK$0.05 per share into
700,000,000 Shares (2020: aggregate principal amount of HK$33
million converted into 660,000,000 shares).
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(bi)

(bii)

(biii)
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(biv)

(cii)

(ciii)

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity ZREEZEEH R

For the year ended 31 March 2021 2= =—F=A=+—HILFE

During the year, the Bondholders have requested to pay any
interest payable by way of Shares. The interests of approximately
HK$7,507,000 have been paid by way of the Shares and
150,131,991 Shares were issued at conversion price of HK$0.05
per share (2019: interests of approximately HK$8,485,000
converted into 109,916,707 Shares).

The merger reserve of the Group represents the difference
between the nominal value of the share capital of a subsidiary
acquired and the nominal value of the shares issued by
the Company in exchange thereof pursuant to the Group
reorganisation on 20 March 2001 as set out in the prospectus of
the Company dated 26 March 2001. The subsidiary was disposed
during the year ended 31 March 2021.

On 29 August 2018, the Company entered into the subscription
agreement with Artic Blue Corporation (“Artic Blue”), pursuant
to which the Company has agreed to allot and issue and Artic
Blue has agreed to subscribe for 150,000,000 subscription shares
at the subscription price of HK$0.10 per subscription shares for
settlement of the outstanding loan of approximately HK$15.0
million due to Artic Blue. On 10 September 2018, 150,000,000
ordinary shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”) were issued
accordingly.

On 19 September 2018, the Company entered into another
subscription agreement with Mr. Wang Dequn (“Mr. Wang"),
pursuant to which the Company agreed to allot and issue and Mr.
Wang has agreed to subscribe for 70,000,000 subscription shares
at the subscription price of HK$0.10 per subscription shares for
additional financial resources for the overall development of
the Group. On 26 October 2018, 70,000,000 Shares were issued
accordingly. Mr. Wang has been appointed as an executive
Director and chairman of the Board with effect from 1 November
2018.

Exchange reserve of the Group comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial statements
of operations outside Hong Kong. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(biv)

(cii)

(ciii)
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Cconsolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #& =2 =—F=A=+—HIFE

Cash flows from operating
activities
Profit/(loss) before income tax

REEFBNRETRE
BRATIS B AT R R, (EHE)

w’

From continuing operations KREFBELEER 2,528 (48,671)
From discontinued operations REKIEEEET 14 =
2,542 (48,671)
Adjustments for: AT EIEFE:
Finance costs A& B AR 6,756 14,366
Interest income B A (12) =
(Gain)/loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEFAF Z(Hﬂzﬁ:&)/ﬁéﬁ B (10,343) 1,979
Net realised loss on disposal of HERAFEFABZZ
financial assets at fair value through BEZEEAEBEIFEHE
profit or loss 1 149
Net fair value loss on financial assets EREEZARNEBBRE
at fair value through profit or loss BRAnBEFABER - 1,058
Depreciation and amortisation TrEREH 404 2,454
Impairment loss on other receivables Eﬁﬂﬁil& RIEREEE - 28
Impairment loss on accounts and loan ERkEREZRESE
receivables 498 11,489
Operating loss before working capital BEESEPH K EEE
changes (154) (17,148)
Increase in loans receivables FE U B FE N - (534)
Increase in trade receivables =0 F’E Hﬂz QLRI (13,562) (19,899)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, FERRIE - Ze R H M E W FKIE
deposits and other receivables (38 n) " A (30,081) 6,140
Increase in trade payables B 5 AT RIEE 14,100 15,354
(Decrease)/increase in other payables HmEMREREFEACRD),
and accruals 3% 50 (3,680) 9,132
Increase/(decrease) in amount due to FENT — R IEIE IR AR SR kI
a non-controlling shareholder of a Rt )
subsidiary 3,773 4,198
Proceeds from disposal of financial HEZRARBEFABRZZ
assets at fair value through profit or TREESNRE
loss 201 1,751
Cash used in operations REmMARE (29,403) (1,000)
Tax paid BT HIE = =
Net cash used in operating RETHMARESTFE
activities (29,403) (1,0006)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows ZEHRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B#E =2 =—F=A=+—HLFE

Cash flows from investing RETHRERERE

activities
Purchase of property, plant and EEME - HEBRERE

equipment (22) (189)
Net cash outflow arising from disposal of HE&E FRARFMELZBE SR

subsidiaries F 5 (41) (19)
Interest received 2 W B 12 -
Net cash used in investing RETBRARSFE

activities (51) (208)
Cash flows from financing RETHRERERE

activities
Proceeds from issue of shares BT FTIS 3 IE 69,913 8,588
Proceeds from issue of bond BITEHMSHIEA 3,000 3,700
Proceeds from borrowings BEERIA 19,216 5,200
Repayments of borrowings BEEE (36,999) (13,207)
Repayments of lease liabilities EBEEHEAE (365) (406)
Interest paid [=ENEX/PSN (300) (4,434)
Decrease in amount due to director FE & = IR R D = (300)

Net cash generated from/(used in) ®EEE (FTA) FEBELFHE

financing activities 54,465 (859)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash ReRBESSEYEM (R

and cash equivalents FEE 25,011 (2,073)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F ¥R MR EZEEY

of year 149 2,220
Effects of foreign exchange rate SNPEFE R BB 2 & BF T

changes, net 23 2

Cash and cash equivalents atend SFXBERBELZEY
of year 25,183 149
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR

90

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Farnova Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares are listed on the
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The address of its registered office
is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11,
Bermuda and its principal place of business is Room 8212,
Unit 01, 82/F, International Commerce Centre, 1 Austin
Road West, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. Details of the principal activities of the
subsidiaries are set out in note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousand ("HK$'000”) except when otherwise
stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA"). In addition,
these consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the "GEM
Listing Rules”) and by disclosure requirement of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance ("HKCQ") Cap. 622.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for certain
financial instruments measured at fair values as explained
in the accounting policies set out below. Historical cost
is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in the exchange for goods.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuec)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics
into account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within
the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16 Leases and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or value in use in
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are
to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods,
the valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial
recognition the results of the valuation technique equals
the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

- Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

- Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

- Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

GREMBBRRESNEE )

ARERRFFERHMSE2EEREK
FREPFHEEEATRRKEREREAR
XNWER MARZERESEERN
BRI EREMGEERMMAE - £
E-HEEXRBBZARER  WMRG
BERYMmSE2REETERBEERE
BERHAAZE AAKEITEEZEMN
MEEXRBERH NZEFHRAMBR
RPERHER AREREZIAAET
RUILELEET HEATRERN:BR
BBV RRENEZ2RAR G EAN
HBERAZABROEANRR S - R
ERUMBRBREREIGRHEE AR ZE
EXG UREAREBEBFERERUZ
BREYFAREZHBE  fIIEE
SR EFRFREZAERFERE
BETERIFIREE R E 2L REE -

BARBERXGZMBEITA ARHEERRE
RAUATAERBEFEAREZHER
A EETEETRIE - ABR )6
RE[BETEAZERBERRHER -

o M BHEMS  AREFED
RE—-— F_RE=ZF - ERNZE
DORBEBENAERREERE & ZEE
HAREFENERBERE  #idmT:

- F-EHABRENEALHRE
B AR 7 o B R AEE B TS ok
ERRENEE

- BE_EBEBARBARF ETHR
BRI EERABNERAHEE
AERBAZRE: &

- F-EBAHEBERZEEXAR
AR BRI -

EREERRERAT —T_—FFE 91



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #4& Bt i8R &Mz

92

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in HKFRS Standards and the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or
after 1 April 2020 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8

Definition of Material

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform

The application of the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial performance
and positions for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4:& Bt # $& &R M5t

TO HKFRSS (continuea)

New and amendments to HKFRSS in issue

but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs and HKASs that have been issued

but are not yet effective.

HKFRS 17

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

Amendments to
HKFRS 9, HKAS
39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 12

Amendments to
HKAS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 37

Amendments to
HKFRS

Amendments to
HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to
HKAS 8

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments?
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions¢

Reference to the Conceptual
Framwork?2

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
— Phase 25

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture3

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transation’

Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts
— Cost of Fulfilling a Contract?

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-20202

Disclosure of Accounting Policies!

Definition of Accounting Estimates?

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 20214
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #4& Bt i8R &Mz

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRSS (continuea)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective (continuea)

1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to
be determined.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 Apri
2021.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June
2020.

The Directors anticipate that the application of new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Basis of consolidation

94

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

— has power over the investee;
— is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns

from its involvement with the investee; and

— has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4:& Bt #$R &R M5t

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(@) Basis of consolidation (continuead)

4, EXGFTHE®)

(@) m"EeEE%)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases
to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income/(expense) of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring
their accounting policies in line with the Group's
accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to
the Company.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

96

(Continued)
(@) Basis of consolidation (continuea)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position and
consolidated statement of changes in equity within
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or
loss and total comprehensive income/(loss) for the
year between the non-controlling shareholders and
owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any
non-controlling interests. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or
loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSS).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4:& Bt #$R &R M5t

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(b) Summary of significant accounting

4, EXGFTHE®)

(b) EXEFRBRME

policies
Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a
long term interest of generally not less than 20%
of the equity voting rights and over which it is in a
position to exercise significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee, but
not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has
been a change recognised directly in the equity of
the associate, the Group recognises its share of
any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and
losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's investments in the associates, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associates is included as part of the
Group's investments in associates.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate,
the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between
the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of
significant influence or joint control and the fair
value of the retained investment and proceeds from
disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified
as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

98

(Continued)
(b) Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
other than inventories, financial assets, deferred
tax assets and non-current assets, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case
the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. An impairment 0SS is
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(b) Summary of significant accounting

4, EXGFTHE®)

(b) EXEHBERME D)

policies (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment l0ss
of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if
there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss
in the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@ the party is a person, or a close member of that
person’s family and that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group;
or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent; or
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b) Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)
Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity),

(iii)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures

of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third

entity and the other entity is an associate

of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity), and

the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.

(viii)

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by that person in their dealings with
the entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4:& Bt #$R &R M5t

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. ERETHE#)
(Continued)

(b) Summary of significant accounting (b) EXEFHEME L)

policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in
the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

Leasehold improvements QOver the shorter

of the lease

terms and 10%

Plant and machinery 10% to 20%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 10% to 20%
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4.

102

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(b) Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among
the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at

least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment
including any significant part initially recognised
is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the

carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Lease
Definition of lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for

consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after
the date of initial application or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will
not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions

of the contract are subsequently changed.
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(b) EXEHBERME D)
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(b) Summary of significant accounting

4, EXGFTHE®)

(b) EXEHBERME D)

policies (continued)

Lease (Continued)

The Group as lessee

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets.
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received,

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the
Group in dismantling and removing the
underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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4.

104

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(b) Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)
Lease (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;
and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if

the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

4, EXGFTHE®)

(b) Summary of significant accounting (b) EXEFHEME L)
policies (continued)
Financial Instruments E@MIA

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss ("FVTPL")) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as
revenue.
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4.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(b) Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement

of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions

are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual

cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount

outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in fair value of an
equity investment in other comprehensive income if
that equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business

Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose

of selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual

pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and

effective as a hedging instrument.

Farnova Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021

4, EXGFTHE®)

(b) EXEHBERME D)

TEMEE
THEEN T BREAE

HANTRIFHSREE K& RE
WA E

e LWEBAHNKREREAEN
CEREEXNTEAEANSRE
E: R

s ANKRIRETEHELEW
RenBERIXNAERRK
BEEATHENNE -

pilE k>

g

EEteMEERERNEARGE
ARSI AE BEBRE
B/ BREREMEEZH &%
B AT AT TRl 3 3 BN E M 2
WHA 2 RERE (L IFFEE
BERREATEME RELEREIN
EBAHWEIRERE T
REHAKRE) RAENERED -

MEmEERTIER  RIFKESR

=

e TEALABERNHBRNBERR
A 3R

s MREAEIEBRAEEER
BEETRINERITAA
BH—&h BOHERLER
S A BREUE BARE e E R
sk

s BRAWEEMN  BEXMEH
TEMTETA -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4:& Bt #$R &R M5t

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b) Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement
of financial assets (Continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate
a financial asset that are required to be measured
at the amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) as measured at
FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
an accounting mismatch.

(1)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial assets
measured subsequently at amortised cost. For
financial instruments other than purchased
or originated credit-impaired financial assets,
interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired. For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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(Continued)
(b) Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement
of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or 10ss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in
the “other gains and losses, net” line item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade, bill and loan receivables, deposits
and other receivables, restricted bank deposits and
cash and cash equivalents), which are subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount
of ECL is updated at the end of each reporting
period to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
("12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that
are possible within 12 months after the end of the
reporting period. Assessments are done based on
the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the end of the reporting period
as well as the forecast of future conditions.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(b) Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables without significant financing component.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the
end of the reporting period with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument'’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(b) Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

110

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk
(Continued)

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor,

. an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease
in the debtor's ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(b) Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial

asset is credit-impaired includes observable
data about the following events:

(@)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower,

a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(b) Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(iv) Write-off policy

112

(v)

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b) Ssummary of significant accounting
policies (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes
into consideration the following characteristics
when formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

. External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based
on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

114

(Continued)
(b) Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade payables, accruals
and other payables, amounts due to non-controlling
interests, amount due to a shareholder and interest-
bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between
the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable
is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(b) Summary of significant accounting

4, EXGFTHE®)

(b) EXEHBERME D)

policies (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Convertible Bonds

”

The convertible bond satisfied “fixed-for-fixed
condition.

The component parts of the convertible bonds are
classified separately as financial liabilities and equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument. Conversion option
that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Company’s own equity instruments is
an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability
component is estimated using the prevailing market
interest rate for similar non-convertible instruments.
This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised
cost basis using the effective interest method until
extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument’s
maturity date.

The conversion option classified as equity is
determined by deducting the amount of the liability
component from the fair value of the compound
instrument as a whole. This is recognised and
included in equity, and is not subsequently
remeasured. In addition, the conversion option
classified as equity will remain in equity until the
conversion option is exercised, in which case, the
balance recognised in equity will be transferred to
share premium. When the conversion option remains
unexercised at the maturity date of the convertible
bonds, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to accumulated losses. No gain or 10ss
is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or
expiration of conversion option.
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(Continued)
(b) Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Convertible Bonds (Continued)

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible bonds are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation of
the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the
equity component are recognised directly in equity.
Transaction costs relating to the liability component
are included in the carrying amount of the liability
component and are amortised over the lives of
the convertible bonds using the effective interest
method.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and demand deposits, and short term
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement
of financial position, cash and cash equivalents
comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term
deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(b) Summary of significant accounting

4, EXGFTHE®)

(b) EXEHBERME D)

policies (continued)
Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow
of resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the
amount recognised for a provision is the present
value at the end of the reporting period of the future
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present
value amount arising from the passage of time
is included in finance costs in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Provisions for product warranties granted by the
Group on certain products are recognised based
on sales volume and past experience of the level
of repairs and returns, discounted to their present
values as appropriate.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit
or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing
in the countries in which the Group operates.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b) Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, when the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(b) Summary of significant accounting

4, EXGFTHE®)

(b) EXEHBERME D)

policies (continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit
or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised
to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(b) Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the

reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
are offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or

recovered.

Revenue Recognition

Interest income from financial asset is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding

and at the effective interest rate applicable.

Revenue from contracts with customers
within HKFRS 15

Nature of goods or services

The nature of the goods or services provided by the

Group is as follows:

o Service income from advertising and movie

production and distribution

. Sale of vehicles in the PRC
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(b) Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)
Revenue Recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
within HKFRS 15 (Continued)

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods
or services promised in a contract with a customer

and identifies as a performance obligation each
promise to transfer to the customer either:

a good or service (or a bundle of goods or
services) that is distinct; or

a series of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same and that have the same
pattern of transfer to the customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is
distinct if both of the following criteria are met:

the customer can benefit from the good or
service either on its own or together with
other resources that are readily available to the
customer (i.e. the good or service is capable of
being distinct); and

the Group’s promise to transfer the good
or service to the customer is separately
identifiable from other promises in the contract
(i.e. the promise to transfer the good or service
is distinct within the context of the contract).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(b) Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)
Revenue Recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
within HKFRS 15 (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group
satisfies a performance obligation by transferring
a promised good or service (i.e. an asset) to a
customer. An asset is transferred when (or as) the

customer obtains control of that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service
over time and, therefore, satisfies a performance
obligation and recognises revenue over time, if one

of the following criteria is met:

i. the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s

performance as the Group performs;

ii. the Group's performance creates or enhances
an asset (for example, work in progress) that
the customer controls as the asset is created or

enhanced:; or

iii. the Group's performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment

for performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time,
the Group satisfies the performance obligation at a
point in time when the customer obtains control of
the promised asset. In determining when the transfer
of control occurs, the Group considers the concept
of control and such indicators as legal title, physical
possession, right to payment, significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset, and customer

acceptance.

Service income from advertising and movie
production and distribution recognise over time when

services are rendered.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(b) Summary of significant accounting

4, EXGFTHE®)

(b) EXEHBERME D)

policies (continued)
Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the
Group's business, the operations and cash flows of
which can be clearly distinguished from the rest of
the Group and which represents a separate major
line of business or geographic area of operations, or
is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a
separate major line of business or geographical area
of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively
with a view to resale.

When an operation is classified as discontinued
operation, a single amount is presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, which
comprises the post-tax profit or loss of the
discontinued operation and the post-tax gain or
loss recognised on the measurement to fair value
less costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the assets
or disposal group(s) constituting the discontinued
operation.

Share-based payments

For grants of share options that are conditional upon
satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value
of services received determined by reference to
the fair value of share options granted at the grant
date and is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in
equity (share option reserve).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates during the vesting
period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to share option
reserve.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

124

(Continued)
(b) Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)

At the time when the share options are exercised,
the amount previously recognised in share option
reserve will be transferred to share premium. When
the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share option
reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.

Where the terms and conditions of options are
modified before they vest, the change in the fair
value of the options, measured immediately before
and after the modification, is also recognised in profit
or loss over the remaining vesting period.

Other employee benefits
Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme
(the "MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group's
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(b) Summary of significant accounting

4, EXGFTHE®)

(b) EXEHBERME D)

policies (continued)
Other employee benefits (Continued)
Pension scheme (Continued)

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries, which
operate in the PRC, are required to participate in
a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs
ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist
of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in
connection with the borrowing of funds.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(b) Summary of significant accounting
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4, EXGFTHE®)

(b)

policies (continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective
functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of
the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group’s foreign operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HKS)
at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the
reporting period, and their income and expenses
are translated at the average exchange rates for the
year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity (the exchange reserve).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Directors are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of
each reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are
tested for impairment annually and at other times when
such an indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are
tested for impairment when there are indicators that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-
generating unit (“CGU") exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal
and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less
costs of disposal is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm'’s length transaction of similar
assets or observable market prices less incremental costs
for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations
are undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or CGU and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)
Loss allowance for ECL

The Group’s management estimates the loss allowance
for trade receivable and loan receivables based on risk
of a default and expected loss rate. The assessment of
the credit risk involves high degree of estimation and
uncertainty as the Group's management estimates the
risk of a default and expected loss rate for applying
provision matrix on debtors based on the Group's
historical information, existing market conditions as well
as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period. Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying amount
of trade receivables. For details of the key assumption and
inputs used in estimating ECL, please refer to note 22 and
23 to the consolidated financial statements.

In order to recognise the credit risk, management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual debt at the end
of reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. The Group
closely monitors the collectability of trade debtors at the
end of the reporting period to ensure that the amounts are
recoverable. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The Group applies a simplified approach to measuring
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected
loss allowance for all trade receivables from initial
recognition. To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The expected l0ss
rates are based on the historical payment profiles of sales
and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced.
The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and
forward-looking information on factors affecting the ability
of the customers to settle the receivables.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)
Current tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
the PRC. The Group carefully evaluates tax implications
of transactions in accordance with the prevailing tax
regulations and makes tax provision accordingly. However,
judgement is required in determining the Group's provision
for income taxes as there are transactions and calculations
of which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact on
the income tax and deferred tax provision in the periods in
which such determination is made.

Useful lives and residual values of items of
property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the residual values,
useful lives and related depreciation charges for the
Group's property, plant and equipment. This estimate is
based on the historical experience of the actual residual
value and useful lives of items of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. It could
change significantly as a result of technical innovations
and competitor actions in response to severe industry
cycles. Management will increase the depreciation
charge where residual values or useful lives are less than
previously estimated, or it will write off or write down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have
been abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ
from estimated useful lives. Periodic review could result in
a change in depreciable lives and therefore depreciation in
the future periods.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. HIEEkEE
(@) Financial risk management objectives (@) WXEAREEEEREE

and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
loan receivables, trade receivables, other receivables
and deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade
payables, other payables and accruals, amount due
to a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary and
a director, borrowings, lease liabilities, bond and
interest payables and convertible bonds. The carrying
amounts of each of the categories of financial

AEEZTESRTABRREAR
Bt ABmcEREE  BEER -
B 5 R W AR - s B R R iR
T REeRRSFEY BFHEN
R HittEASRAREFEM
ENT AR —BIFERBERE—%
ExxE -fBE HEAE EN
BHERFERAREES - RER
HAR ZEeRmIAZEREENT:

instruments as at the end of the reporting are as

follows:
2021
—_E_—F
HK$°000
FET
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at fair value through R EFTAEZR Z 2 &6l
profit or loss BE = 202
Financial assets at amortised cost: 12 8 B AN %) BR 9
TEEE:
Loan receivables FE IR B 3 = =
Trade receivables B 5 W RN 23,064 10,000
Other receivables and deposits Hih B RIB RIES
(excluding prepayments) (T BIEBEMKE) 898 260
Cash and cash equivalents e kRESFEY 25,183 149
49,145 10,409
49,145 10,611
Financial liabilities tRAaE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: ¥ B#$E A ANt 2 =~
TRIEE:
Trade payables 25 EMIRR 21,777 7,677
Other payables and accruals H M A RIE &
FEET & F 12,381 23,094
Amount due to a non-controlling ERF AR —RIEER
shareholder of a subsidiary % B 3 E - 4,198
Amount due to a director B —REEHIEA - 820
Borrowings BE 163 16,366
Lease liabilities HEEE 1,491 25
Bond and interest payable FERESEFE 7.687 3,938
Convertible bonds R ES - 80,753
43,499 136,871
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

(a) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continuea)

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarised below. The Group’s
accounting policies are set out in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(M

(i)

Interest rate risk

The interest rate of the Group’s borrowings
is disclosed in note 29. As the Group has no
significant variable interest-bearing financial
assets and liabilities, the Group’s income
and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest
rate. The Group adopts centralised treasury
policies in cash and financial management and
focuses on reducing the Group’s overall interest
expenses. The Directors are of the opinion that
the Group's sensitivity to the change in interest
rate is low.

Currency risk

Currency risk refers to the risk that the fair
value or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
foreign exchange rates. The transactions and
monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in RMB is minimal, the Group considers there
has no significant foreign exchange risk in
respect of RMB. The Group currently does not
have a hedging policy on currency risk but the
management would consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

The policies to manage currency risk have been
followed by the Group in prior years and are
considered to be effective.

6. KRR ERE#)
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea) 6. MBEEER®

(@) Financial risk management objectives (@) MEEBEEEERBEK#)
and policies (continuea)
(iii) cCredit risk and impairment assessment (i) EERBRRBETMG

132

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the credit risk
of the Group is primarily attributable to trade
receivable, deposits and other receivables,
loans receivables and bank balances.

The Group performed impairment assessment
for financial assets under ECL model.
Information about the Group’s credit risk
management, maximum credit risk exposures
and the related impairment assessment, if
applicable, are summarized as below:

In respect of trade receivable and deposits
and other receivables, in order to minimise
risk, the management has a credit policy
in place and the exposures to these credit
risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
Credit evaluations of its debtors’ financial
position and condition are performed on
each and every major debtor periodically.
These evaluations focus on the debtor’s
past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and take
into account information specific to
the debtor as well as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the
debtor operates. The Group does not
require collateral in respect of its financial
assets. Debts are usually due between 90
and 180 days from the date of billing.

The Group's exposure to credit risk of
trade receivable is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each
debtor. At the end of the reporting period,
the Group had certain concentration of
credit risk as 100% (2020: 100%) of the
total trade receivable were due from the
Group's largest debtor and the five largest
debtors.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(a) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continuea)

(iii) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

(Continued)

The Group's customer base consists of
a wide range of clients and the trade
receivables are categorised by common
risk characteristics that are representative
of the customers’ abilities to pay all
amounts due in accordance with the
contractual terms. The Group applies a
simplified approach in calculating ECL
for trade receivables and recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at
each reporting date and has established
a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment
The expected loss rate used in the
provision matrix is calculated for each
category based on actual credit loss
experience over the past three years and
adjusted for current and forward-looking
factors to reflect differences between
economic conditions during the period
over which the historical data has been
collected, current conditions and the
Group’s estimate on future economic
conditions over the expected lives of
the receivables. There was no change in
the estimation techniques or significant
assumptions made during the year.

The maximum exposure to credit risk
of trade receivables for each stage is
represented by the net carrying amount
of each type of financial assets as at the
end of the reporting periods. The details
are set out in note 23 to these financial
statements.
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6.

134

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)
(a) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continuea)

(iii) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

In respect of loans receivable, the Group
has adopted procedures in extending
credit terms to loan borrowers and in
monitoring its credit risk. The credit
policy on extending credit terms to
loan borrowers includes assessing
and evaluating loan borrowers'’
creditworthiness and financial standing.
Management also closely monitors
all outstanding debts and reviews
the collectability of loans receivable
periodically.

When a certain number of customers
undertake the same business activities,
stay in the same geographical locations,
or bear similar economic features for their
industries, their ability to fulfil contracts
will be affected by the same economic
changes. Concentration of credit risk
reflects the sensitivity of the Group’s
operating results to a particular industry
or geographic location. As the Group
mainly conducts microfinance business in
Hong Kong, a certain level of geographical
concentration risk exists for its loan
portfolios in that it might be affected by
changes of economic conditions.

The maximum exposure to credit risk of
loans and advances to customers for each
stage is represented by the net carrying
amount of each type of financial assets
as at the end of the reporting periods.
The details are set out in note 22 to these
financial statements.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(a) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continuea)

(iii) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Com‘mued)

The credit risk on cash and cash
equivalents are limited because the
counterparties are mainly banks with high
credit ratings assigned by international
credit-rating agencies.

The Group adopts a risk classification
approach to manage its financial instruments
portfolio risk. Financial instruments are
categorised into the following stages by the
Group:

Stage 1

Financial instruments have not experienced
a significant increase in credit risk since
origination and impairment recognised on
the basis of 12 months expected credit
losses (12-month ECLS).

Stage 2

Financial instruments have experienced
a significant increase in credit risk since
origination and impairment is recognised
on the basis of lifetime expected credit
losses (Lifetime ECLS non credit-impaired).

Stage 3

Financial instruments that are in default
and considered credit impaired (Lifetime
ECLs credit-impaired). The Group applies
the new ECL model to measure the
impairment loss of the loans and advances
to customers.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea) 6.

(@) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continuea)
(iii) Credit risk and impairment assessment

136

(Continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading
assessment comprises the following categories:

Internal credit rating

REEE TR
Low risk

1K 2 B

Watch list

BEAE

Doubtful

Loss

IEES

Write-off

Pt R R P R

Description

1 ot

The counterparty has a low risk of
default and does not have any past-
due amounts

HFTHEDRAR
pal i R o

B - I EAEAA

Debtor frequently repays after due
dates but usually settle in full
BEHARBTRINARERER BB

BEREMNE

There have been significant
increases in credit risk since initial
recognition through information
developed internally or external
resources

MBAIIINBEREB L E R -

TRIBNFERARERERR
RSPl

There is evidence indicating the
asset is credit-impaired
ERBRPZEECHREERE

There is evidence indicating that
the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

BERERAGBBAERBRENT K
l%&&ﬁ%ll?ﬂhﬁ%ﬁ’ﬂ&@ﬁu

=
=8
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(iii) EERKKXBET

JURY «-ni .,'-,(

BRRERERE#)
(@) IEEREEEERKE &)

1 (45)

AEBEHAEEERRFR
BEATER

Financial assets at
amortised cost
REBHRATEN
BMBEE

12m ECL

REABRBEEER

12m ECL

REAEREEEE

Lifetime ECL - not credit-
impaired

HEHNEERRE-ER

Lifetime ECL - credit-
impaired

HEHREEEE-FE
WE

Amount is written off
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea) 6. MBEEER®

(a) Financial risk management objectives (@) WKEMEEEERBE®)
and policies (continuea)
(iii) Credit risk and impairment assessment (i) EERBRERMBENGE)
(Continued)
2021
—E--&
Gross
External credit Internal 12m or carrying Loss carrying
rating credit rating  lifetime ECL amount  allowance amount allowance
12187525
AREETR  RPEEIE  AHEEEE BEAE FERE RHAE EEAR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TEx BT THL
Loan receivables N/A Loss Life-time ECL 426 426 4,967 4,967
- credit-impaired
EHER TER BX SHEHEERE
-EEHE
Trade receivables N/A Doubtful Life-time ECL 23,562 498 31,364 21,364
- non credit-mpaired
BARKER TER Fi 2HEHEERE
-FRERE
Deposits and other receivables N/A Doubtful Life-time ECL 898 - 2,852 2592
- non credit-impaired
ReRAMERTE TER Fi 2HEHEERE
-FRERE
Bank balances Baatorabove  N/A 12m ECL 25,183 = 149 =
B1EH Baa 130 M | TER PERRS
EEEE

ZHEEZRERAA —T-—FFHR 137
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

(@) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continuea)

(iii) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The following tables show reconciliation of
loss allowances that has been recognised for
financial assets measured at amortised cost:

6. KRR ERE#)
(@) IEEREEEERKE &)

(ii) 15 & = B & R B &F 15 (%)

TRIRE IR # 55 R A
BECHMBEERRAZBRRE
[GPA3E

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Lifetime ECL -  Lifetime ECL -
(not credit- (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired)
B B2 1 B% £z 2 P& E23
2 HBEH
FEER
ERE) (EERE)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL TEL THL BT
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NF
MA—A 17 17,424 - 17,441
Changes due to financial RZE-NEMA—

instruments recognised at AR AEH

1 April 2019 TRAE4LZ2):

- Transfer — W (17) - 17 =
Written off of impairment losses #if £ & & 18 % = (35) = (35)
Impairment losses recognised  © R EE & - 6,567 4,950 11,517
At 31 March 2020 and R-ZZ-ZH

at 1 April 2020 ZRA=+—-HRk

—ZITE

mA—H S 23,956 4,967 28,923
Reversal of impairment BERE - (2,592) (4,967) (7,559)
Impairment losses recognised R EE B - 498 426 924
Disposal of subsidiary HEFRFE - (21,364) (426) (21,790)
As at 31 March 2021 R-ZB=-%

=B=+-H - 498 - 498
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6. KRR ERE#)
(@) IEEREEEERKE &)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(@) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continuea)

(iv) Liquidity risk (iv) RBESER

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and an availability of
funding through the ability to close-out market
positions. In the opinion of the Directors, the
Group's objective is to maintain a balance
between continuity of funding and flexibility
through the use of interest-bearing loans and
its own funding sources.

The following table details the remaining
contractual maturities at the reporting date of
the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities,
which are based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the reporting date)
and the earliest date the Group can be required
to pay:

At 31 March 2021

EERPDECRREEEE
BRMBEFRZENTAR
wReLRARIAES - B
ERR AKEEZERRE
BERFRERREBSEN
B R BRRBESZHAEN
HBEREECEN T -

TRANAEEETE SR
BERSHREAHAZHRTALH
HHBER HIIREAHR
MEARSREERBERITON
RH(ERFRIBRBEARLZ
BIE A RS E 2 F B0 A
EARKEAEAFELEXNZ
RERHMEL:

R=-B-_—%=H=+—H

Total
contractual
Within undiscounted Carrying
Ondemand Within 1year ~ 1to2years  Over 2 years cash flow amount
AHAEE
RER -ER -ERER REME HeREHE BEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Txn Thxn Txn Thxn TExn TExn
Trade payables B5EMTA 0,117 - - - 0,117 0
Other payables and accruals — ZHERFVAR B4
i 12,381 - - - 12,381 12,381
Borrowings & 175 - - - 175 163
Bond and interest payable ~ EREHRFIE - 300 5,064 5,300 10,664 7,687
Lease liabilties HEBE - 960 640 - 1,600 1,491
34,333 1,260 5,704 5,300 46,597 43,499
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6.

140

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(@) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continuea)

(iv) Liquidity risk (Continued)
At 31 March 2020, the Group had net current
liabilities of approximately HK$124,283,000 and
net liabilities of approximately HK$128,109,000.
The directors have taken steps to improve
the Group's liquidity position and mitigate its
liquidity risk.

At 31 March 2020

6. KRR ERE#)
(@) IEEREEEERKE &)

(iv) "RBESRR(E)

R-_EBE-_ZTF=A=+—H"
AEBARBEEFENR
124,283,000/ T - M & & F
549 /5128,109,000/8 7T - £ F
EERINEBEARERNEER
B AR BB R R

(G
AA

o

RZFZFTF=A=1t—H

Total
contractual
[l undiscounted Carrying
Ondemand  Within 1 year Tto2years  Qver2years cash flow amount
REX —-Ef -ERER RERME Hiénss KA
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$000 HK$000
Tk T Thn Thr Thr Thr
Trade payables BHENA 1477 - - - 7671 7671
Other payables and accruals —— E- b FE R 508 B
g 209 - - - B0 B0
Amount due to & non- EftTAR-45iE
conroling shareholder of ~ RIEEZA
a subsidiary 419 - - - 419 419
Amount due to a director ER-4E25E 820 - - - 820 820
Borrawings & 15,847 519 - - 16,366 16,366
Bond and interest payable  EREHRFIE - 276 318 4,408 5,000 3938
Convertble bonds TERES - 86,400 - - 86,400 80,753
Lease liabilties HEAR - % - - % 5
51,636 87,21 38 4,406 143,581 136,871
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

(b) Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

6. KRR ERE#)

(b) EMITANDAREE

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that
are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis

The Group's financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are measured at fair value at the end
of the reporting period. The following table gives
information about how the fair values of these
financial assets are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique(s) and inputs used), as well as
the level of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair
value measurements are categorised (levels 1 to 3)
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements is observable.

BEEEENAAETEZEE
BEMmEEZANE

AEBEARBFAEBEZZE/ME
ERREBRIZAALBGE - X
RENNEETZSTeREELR
B2 &R R EAGERINR
WASE) UWRZAREFEM
FAZBASBEZIEREERA
REBEFEESZARERER(E—
BEFE=H) -

Fair value
as at 31 March
R=A=+-HZAARE

Fair value Valuation technique and
hierarchy key inputs
DRAEER HERTREERAZE

Financial assets
THEE

2021

2020

=B T _THF

HK$'000
TR

HK$'000
TAL

Financial assets at fair value - 202  Level 1 Quoted share prices in an
through profit or loss active market
BARBEFABGZEREE E—R BHORERTH2RE
There is no transfer between different levels of the BHE-_Z-_—RZZE=ZF= A
fair value hierarchy for the year ended 31 March 2021 =+—HIEFE- THJ"#&ZQ/‘t

and 2020.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are not measured at
fair value on a recurring basis

The management of the Group estimates the fair
value of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities measured at amortised cost using the
discounted cash flows analysis.

The management of the Group considers that
the carrying amounts of financial assets and

BEER AT EES -

UHBREEEEUQAARETEZ
FEBTHEERERAGEZD
RE
AEEEEEBEERUMRRERD
Wrokfar N EBERBHK AT E
ZERMEENEBMABZIANGE-

FAEBEEERRREAMBM
MREBBHERAIEZEREE

financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in FemaEREBERAAERS
the consolidated statement of financial position
approximate at their fair values.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)
(c) Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’'s capital
management are to safeguard the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts
and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The Group reviews the capital structure on an
annual basis and makes adjustments to it in the
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. Based on
the review, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through raising or repayment of borrowings,
bond insurance, share pricing and repayment of debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the
gearing ratio. The gearing ratio is calculated as total
debts divided by total assets. At the reporting years
ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group’s gearing
ratio was 9.8% and 972.5%, respectively.
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BEEREREZ)
(c) EXE®E

AEBEAEEZTEARARE
AEBEZHBEEZR IR BEHRR
ZERLA - ARBEEBRMEH
ERBREER=EE-

AEEZERAGEBESEBRAR
AEAEANEGEEZ(BROBETR
AR fER)

AEESFRANENEE  XRE
REANEHREEEE 2 AR
BHEBELHAE - REABRE K
SEHEEERANER BTE
F BOEEREEEH FEHEE
BENERE -

AEERAEEABLXERAEE
Ao BEBE L FIZEFRERIA
BEREFE REBE_T_—F
B _FHF-_A=1+—HLEHSE
FE -AKRBZEERRBLED R
7%9.8% 12972.5% °
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and
has three reportable operating segments as follows:

(@ Advertising: provision of advertising and movie
production and distribution in Hong Kong;

(b)  Securities investments: investments and trading of
securities in Hong Kong; and

(c) Sales of vehicle.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
disposed of the entire equity interests in Success Start
Limited which engaged in money lending in Hong Kong.
Accordingly, the Group’s money lending operation
was treated as discontinued operation. The segment
information reported below does not include any amounts
for the discontinued operation which is disclosed in note
15.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit or loss, which is a measure of adjusted
profit or loss before income tax. The adjusted profit or
loss before income tax is measured consistently with the
Group's profit or loss before income tax except that bank
interest income, finance costs as well as head office and
corporate expenses are excluded from such measurement.

7.

ReEsBEFR

RERANME  AEBRERR RS
EHAEBER DAAT=ET2RE
S

T
P

Dk

a &

—_

ERBARBEEEARERH
K BT
%

e

-\
1

BRE RBBETESFRER
g5k

(b) =&
g

C) HEEH -

REBEZZT—F=A=+—HIEFE -
AEBMPERBERARDIKE  Z
EEREBNEREER - Bt - &%
EZHMEEBEEGADRIEEEETR -
TXE2FH 29 EE RN BIEN FE15FT
BRZERIECEER 2EMNSE -

EEEEREEASEKE M IRE
UERBEERD B RRFFEZRE -
DERRIEBIET ERLABRGAEHA
i N 2 B 18 2 F] 2 ¥ 0 BB N 3 B 1B
TP fh - RABKRAS DA G N 2B 18
Z &t 8 EN R B R AT IS B AT 4 A 3 B 18
ZEAETA - ERITHMEBA B
BN R BRER MR KA
ABHETE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4:& Bt % $& &R M5t

7. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, corporate
and unallocated assets and assets relating to discontinued
operation.

Segment liabilities exclude deferred tax liabilities,
convertible bonds, corporate and unallocated liabilities
and liabilities relating to discontinued operation.

(@) Segment Results
For the year ended 31 March 2021

7.

rES>ETWER (2

DHEETBREEREBEEE XK
ANEEEANREERIEEEXBKEH
ZEE -

DHEETEREERARAE  ATRK
BEHF XRAPEBENAREADKL
REXGARZARB -

(@) 2 HEE
BE-E-_—F=ZHA=+—HL*F
B

Sales of  Securities

Advertising vehicle investments Total
B HEHR BERE 45t
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TEx TER THET
Segment revenue oA
Sales to external customers HETHNBEP 56,100 10,986 - 67,086
Segment results DEEE 19,463 3,984 (1,399) 22,048
Reconciliation: R
Unallocated gains R Bz 12
Finance costs BERK (6,756)
Corporate and other rEREMADE
unallocated expenses 53 (12,776)
Loss before income tax BIERAEAR 2,528
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7. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. RESWER )
(Continued)
(a) Segment Results continued) (a) o EBEEE)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE_Z-_ZF=-ZA=Z=1+—HILHF
I3
Securities
Advertising investments Total
BE BHKZE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
SR AL AL
Segment revenue R LON
Sales to external customers HETHHEP 20,000 - 20,000
Segment results DEEE (7,315) (1,210) (8,525)
Reconciliation: R
Unallocated gains RO B M E 8
Finance costs BMEKA (14,366)
Corporate and other unallocated ~ (¥ REM AN E
expenses 53 (21,352)
Loss before income tax BRIRERAEE (44,235)
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7. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. BRESBER (2
(Continued)
(b) Segment Assets and Liabilities (b) *HMEERAE
At 31 March 2021 R-EBE--=HA=+—H

Sales of  Securities

Advertising vehicle investments Total
B& HEEH BERE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER THERT
Segment assets THEE 17,200 62,970 55 80,225
Reconciliation: HHR
Corporate and other rEREMAIEEE

unallocated assets -

Total assets BEE 80,225
Segment liabilities 2HER 43,082 578 - 43,660
Reconciliation: R

Corporate and other CEREMRHEAE

unallocated liabilities -

Total liabilities BEE 43,660
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7. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. RESWER )
(Continued)
(b) Segment Assets and Liabilities (b) " HEERERE &)
(Continued)
At 31 March 2020 RZZEZZF=A=+—H
Securities
Advertising investments Total
B& BHRE B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TR FAT
Segment assets TREE 10,255 243 10,498
Reconciliation: R
Corporate and other unallocated ~ ¥R EMAIEEE
assets 488
Assets relating to discontinued HERIIEEEBEH
operation ZBE 11
Total assets BEE 10,997
Segment liabilities 2HERE 9,912 1,069 10,981
Reconciliation: R
Convertible bonds RRES 80,753
Corporate and other unallocated ~ ¥ REMKHEEE
liabilities 47,364
Liabilities relating to discontinued ~ HEX|FELEKHH
operation Z8fE 8

Total liabilities BEE 139,106

EREMERERATY —T-F5%H 147




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements & Bt ¥ R &Kt sE

7. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. BRESBER (2
(Continued)
(c) Other Segment Information (c) Hfttp I&E R
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BE-E-_—S=ZA=+—HL#HE
E
Sales of  Securities
Advertising vehicle investments Total
B& HEER EBHERE @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL TER TER THERL
Depreciation neE 404 - - 404
Unallocated depreciation AOBEIE -
404
For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-_Z_ZTF=-A=+—8L*F
I3
Securities
Advertising investments
BE BEHEERE @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT THEL
Depreciation e 1,722 - 1,722
Unallocated depreciation AOETE 725
2,447

Amortisation of other intangible HhEVEESHE
assets 7 7
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. BEFWBER &)
(Continued)
Geographical information wEER

TREHRABASEEREFELERER
ZOBEPWARFERBEEZDHN °

The following table provides an analysis of the Group's
revenue from external customers from continuing
operations and non-current assets.

2020
—E-FF
HK$'000

FET
(Represented)
(EHZ7)

Revenue from external customers #HIFEFKA

Hong Kong B 56,100 20,000

The PRC s 10,986 =
67,086 20,000

2021
—E_—F

HK$’000
TER

Non-current assets kRBEE

Hong Kong B 1,490

2020
—E-FF

HK$'000
TAET

112

The geographical location of customers is based on the
location at which the services were provided or the goods
delivered. The geographical location of the non-current
assets is based on the physical and operating location
of the assets. The Company is an investment holding
company incorporated in Bermuda and mainly operated in
Hong Kong.

BEPFEMIEMNE IRE /R XA
EmzuESD - FRDEEMEMIE
NEDNREECERMEEMLER D -
ARBSNAREEMALIL ETERNE
BREZREERRF -
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7. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. RESWER (2
(Continued)
Information about major customers FTEEFZEHR
Revenue from customers of the year from continuing HE-_ZT-— k=2 F=H
operations ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 contributing ST -HALBELKEEBFE  RKBE
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are generated EEBERAEERARBFR(GL BB
from advertising business as follow: 0% EPWEINT
2020
—ETF
HK$°000
FAET

customer A BEFEF - 14,000

Customer B ®FZ 7,000 -

Customer C EFR - 6,000

Customer D ERPT 9,100 =

8. REVENUE 8. WA
2020
—ETF
HK$°000
FAT
Continuing operations BEREER

Film related business and advertising BEYHBEBRESRY
service income A 56,100 20,000
Sales of vehicle 55 & B & 10,986 -
67,086 20,000

Timing of revenue recognition: WATERER:

A point in time B2 67,086 20,000
The revenue from contracts with customer are solely EFANBRAERAEZHBERRE
derived from film related business and advertising EDHREEERHOI - WEARK—F
segment and sales of vehicle segment and under a point F R A -

in time revenue recognition.
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9. OTHER INCOME

9. HttlA

2020
—E-FF

HK$'000
THE T

Continuing operations BERKEER

Bank interest income |ITH B A 12 -

Sundry income MEUA - 8
12 8

10. OTHER (GAIN)/LOSS, NET

Continuing operations

10. Hfb (W zs) 518 % 58

2021
—E_—F
HK$'000

FTRERT

2020
—EFF
HK$'000
FHE T
(GER CIE)
(& E5)

Impairment loss on other receivables H b BN R IB R E S 1B - 28

Impairment loss on trade receivables EZRKFERBEEE 498 6,539
(Gain)/loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEFAF

Cs 04 3 (10,343) 1,979

(9,845) 8,546

11. FINANCE COSTS

M. BMERS

2021
—E-—F

HK$'000
TER

2020
—E-FTF

HK$'000
TAT

Continuing operations HEREER

Interest on borrowings ER SN 1,880 3,600

Interest on bonds & H F & 1,049 238

Interest on convertible bonds AR ESHZFE 3,774 10,492

Interest on lease liabilities HEBERE 53 36
6,756 14,366
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12. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

Loss before income tax from continuing operations is
arrived at after charging (crediting):

152

12. BRFT S B A& 18

RERBEREEBZHEMBHAERE

MR GEA) AT RRRER:

2021 2020
—E-_—F —ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FTEL
(@) Employee benefit expense (@) EEEABX(BEES
(including directors’ remuneration) )
Salaries, wages and other benefits e IERHEMER 6,292 6,472
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RINE TG B 5K 200 120
6,492 6,592
(b) Other items (b) HfmE
Depreciation of property, plant and ME RERIENE
equipment 39 2,070
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRABEEETE 365 377
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESH = 7
Auditors' remuneration % E A0 2 620 690
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13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE B EESMERIEIEESFNES
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to BRIBEGEM EM A M EH B QG IKHE
the GEM Listing Rules and section 383(1) of the HKCO and WMEERAIRAUNE2DA(BEEES
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about MEmERBEECFEEEM2OT

Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Salaries, allowances  Retirement benefit

Fees and benefits in kind ~ scheme contributions Total
fe Ho RERENANE  BARAHIER it
2021 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021
SR=-F “F-TF SRS=f | "T-FF S8R “FT-TF TES-F
Notes ~ HKS$'000 i HK$'000 HK$'000 ~ HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
firsk T BT Tén | Tir TEL BT TEL
Executive Directors
Mr. Hu Chao fibik ) - - 292 420 - - 292 120
M. Lin Yan Jenny Wt (b) - - - 60 - - - 60
Mr. Wang Ronggian IREEE 0 - - 103 45 - - 103 156
Mr.Chow Chi Wah Vincent ~ EIZE%S (d) - - 785 920 - - 785 920
Mr. Tsang King Sun LSk 5] - - 1 731 - - 1 731
Mr. Guo Gelin PRAEE f) - - 360 R - = 360 k)
Mr. Mou Zhong Wei BRESRE @® - - 148 - - - 148 -
Mr. Deng Li Befk ) - - 54 - - - 54 -
- - 240 - - 260
Non-executive Director ¥ HTEE
Mr. Qian Gang ERLE 0} - 29 - - - - - 229
Mr. Wang Dequn TEREE () - 17 126 - - - 126 17
M. Li Guang Ying E3 4-Fikd k) - - 12 - - - 12 =
Mr. Wang Hang Jing TESRAE () - - " - - - " -
Mr. Wang Qiang Ttk m) - - 74 - - - 74 -
Mr. Mei Ka Ji BRELE n) - - 15 - - - 15 =
M. Kuang Quan Zhuang BEtLY 0] - - 2 - - - 27 -
- 26 265 - - - 265 26
Independent Non- BUFifEs
executive Directors
Mr. Hau Chi kit EEGEHE () - 4 - - - - - M
M. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua FRERE ) 120 120 - - - - 120 120
Mr. Wong Ching Keung TrikE 4] 187 - - - - - 187 -
Ms. Ng Yin Ling Elaine REERT s) 30 87 - - - - 30 87
Dr. Santos Antonio Maria HEERL ) 87 87 - - - - 87 87
Mr. Luo Ji Bask 0 74 - - - - = 74 S
Ms. Wu Hong RELTL ) 9 - - - - - 9 -
Mr. Li Jian Xing FRTEE (W) 17 - - - - - 17 -
524 338 - : - s 524 38
Total st 524 584 2,008 2619 - - 2,532 3,203
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13.

154

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued)

Notes:

B EEHERIEEEFTMHES
(#)
B

@)

Mr. Hu Chao was resigned on 14 December 2020.

Ms. Lin Yan Jenny was resigned on 26 August 2019.

Mr. Wang Ronggian was resigned on 19 June 2020.

Ms. Jingquan Yingzi was resigned on 1 April 2019.

Mr. Chow Chi Wah Vincent was appointed on 25 June 2019
and resigned on 23 November 2020.

Mr. Chin Wai Keung Richard was resigned on 23 October

2018.

Mr. Tsang King Sun was appointed on 2 July 2019 and
resigned on 10 February 2020.

Mr. Guo Gelin was appointed on 27 February 2020.

Mr. Mao Songtao was appointed on 23 October 2018 and

resigned on 1 April 2019.

Mr. Mou Zhong Wei was appointed on 19 August 2020.

Mr. Deng Li was appointed on 11 January 2021.

Mr. Qian Gang was appointed on 22 May 2019 and resigned
on 10 January 2020.

Mr. Wang Dequn was appointed as an Executive Director

on 1 November 2018, re-designated to a Non-executive
Director on 17 April 2019 and resigned on 6 August 2020.

Mr. Li Guang Ying was appointed on 23 February 2021.
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13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

() Mr. Wang Han Jing was appointed on 25 February 2021.

(m)  Mr. Wang Qiang was appointed on 19 August 2020.

(n)  Mr. Mei Ka Ji was appointed on 11 January 2021 and
resigned on 23 February 2021.

(0)  Mr. Kuang Quan Zhuang was appointed on 11 January 2021.

(p)  Mr. Hau Chi Kit was resigned on 18 July 2019.

(@  Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua was resigned on 31 May 2021.

(r Mr. Wong Ching Keung was resigned on 1 March 2021.

(s) Ms. Ng Yin Ling Elaine was appointed on 9 July 2019 and
resigned on 30 June 2020.

(t) Dr. Santos Antonio Maria was appointed on 9 July 2019 and
resigned on 20 November 2020.

(U)  Mr. Luo Ji was appointed on 19 August 2020.
(v)  Ms. Wu Hong was appointed on 4 March 2021.
(W)  Mr. Li Jian Xing was appointed on 5 March 2021.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2020:
Nil).

13.EEMEeREEESTHMES

(%)

M ax: (&)

h EEEER4LER-_ZET-_—F-AF-+1H
HAE o

(m TEAER-ZBE_ZTFNA+LBHET -

n BrEEBEEAR-_ZT-_—F—HF+—HH
T YRZZE=_—F—_A=+=HET -

(0) BEMHEENR-_Z-_—F—F+—8H
£ -

P EEHEEER-_ZT—HLhELtA+N\BE
£ -

@ ZFEEX4ER-_ZT-_—FAA=+—8
BHIT -

N TETrEBREAVR-_ZT-_—F=A—HBEIT -
(5) REELITHR-_Z—NAFLAALBHEI
TR-ZZE-_ZEFA=+HEHT -

t HREBEIR-Z—NAFLAALBET -
YHR-_ZE-_EF+-_A-+HEE-

Uy BELEEN-ZE-_FTFENATILBLEE-
v) RAXTHR-_ZT-—F=AMBEE-
w) ZFEALAER-_Z-_—FZARBHE-

REE  BEFWELR B HE T
EZLRF(CF_FTF E)-
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13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued)

The five highest paid employees during the year included
one (2020: three) Directors, details of whose remuneration
are set out above. Details of the remuneration for the year
of the remaining four (2020: two) highest paid employees,
which were individually within HK$1,000,000, are as
follows:

1. EEMEeRTEBEETMES
(&)
AFERE R HEERE—®R(ZF
ZEFZR)ER FEZHMEFHEH
REX - RFEHRTHEZ(ZE_ZF:
M) EeFEEEZAEDAIR
1,000,000 7o) 2 B 1B T

2021
—_E_—=F

HK$'000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥ &

Retirement benefit scheme contributions

R R BEYA &
RARAE A8 R 69 33

FTER

1,700 1,507

1,769 1,540

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the Directors
or the five highest paid employees as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for 10ss
of office.

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

current tax B HA i 18

PRC Enterprise Income Tax

TEEEXMER

HE_ZT-_—FER_ZT=FF=H
—t—HLEEE AEEHRERAETAE
LRI FTNEESINEMBE
EBMAREES N MALRER % 2 18
Bhok BB wE o

14. FRIBEBHAX

2020
—E-THF

—_—= =

HK$'000
TAET

156 S

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No.7) Bill 2017
(the "Bill") which introduces the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March
2018 and was gazetted on the following day. Under the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%,
and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat
rate of 16.5%.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4:& Bt #$R &R M5t

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continuea)

The provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated
at the standard rate of 25% on the estimated assessable
income as determined in accordance with the relevant
income tax rules and regulations of the PRC.

The directors considered the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profit tax rates regime
as insignificant to the consolidated financial statements.
Hong Kong Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years.

Reconciliation between the income tax expense and the
Group's loss before tax from continuing operations at
applicable tax rates is as follows:

14. T EHBEX#)

TECEMEHRBEBILDRETEEH
FIERARAUERPIMEE 2RERXE
25% @ WIEFT R AGE -

EERA BHRANCGHMASESRN
CHEBRAVBEREAMEETER &
BHEEMEFEOGERH BN
16.5% & -

BERREFEZABHAXEARHE
FEREXBREL CBRAEBE S
BRanE

2020
—E-FE

—= =

HK$'000

TE T
(GEN CIE)
(EE7)

Profit/(loss) before income tax from BREEEER ZBITERA

continuing operations wm A (E18) 2,528 (44,235)
Tax calculated at applicable tax rate HEAMEFTEZRIE 670 (7,299)
Tax effect of non-taxable income BARBBRAZH G E (2,354) -
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TAIMBE R oG & 164 1,823
Tax effect of deductible temporary RERANHERFERE 2

differences not recognised M8 = 175
Tax effect of unused tax losses not RERRBAMEBEZ

recognised MR 1,676 5,552
Utilisation of tax losses previously not PRABARERBEEIE

recognised - (251)
Income tax expense SRR X 156 =

At 31 March 2021, the Group has unrecognised tax
losses of the subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong of
approximately HK$49,976,000 (2020: HK$92,168,000). There
are no expiry date for tax losses in Hong Kong. Decrease
during the year was due to disposal of subsidiaries.

RZE-Z—F=ZRA=+—H A5 H
REBREZFRRIZAERBEE
B 4 B49976,0008 (=& = & F:
92,168,000/ 7T) - R BB FE B L
BRHA - REERBLITTEREET

AR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4:& Bt % $& &R M5t

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continuea) 14. FR8HBA X (@)

Deferred tax asset in respect of unused tax losses has not
been recognised in the consolidated financial statements
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams against
which the tax losses can be utilised. The tax losses of the
subsidiaries operating in the PRC can be carried forward
for 5 years, while tax losses of the companies within the
Group operating in Hong Kong can carry forward their tax
losses indefinitely under the current tax legislation.

. DISCONTINUED OPERATION

On 1 January 2021, the Group entered into a conditional
sale and purchase agreement to dispose the entire equity
interest in Success Start Limited (“Success Start”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company which carried
out the money lending operations, and a sale loan due by
Success Start at total consideration of HK$1. The disposal
of money lending operations was consistent with the
Group's long-term policy to focus its activities on the
Group's other business. The disposal was completed on 1
January 2021, on which date the control of money lending
operations ceased.

The comparative figure for the consolidated income
statement and related notes have been re-presented as if
the operations of money lending operations discontinued
during the year had been discontinued at the beginning of
the comparative period.

The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of
Success Start at the date of disposal were as follows:

B 7 A (R B A B A B 1R 2 R RO AR
AEA MY BRGEAMBRRAER
ERADABRBEBERZEEREREE -
RPBRLEZTRARAZRBEBEENEE
hE - MRERTEBEL REEL
BZASBEETRRZH G E R ER
HEeE o

CBRILEREXER

R-TE-_—F—A—H XAKEBEFZLE
FHEEHSE HELEREBEEBZA
RAZETRAAABERAR (AR
MEARAERARABER ZHESR
R RRERET HENERXEBNTA
AEEBEXEBEHE TN AEEEM
EB2ERPRR - HEER_F=—

—A—BZEMR REXHOENERE
B&LE -

HAaBRARZEBREFTRABMETIR
REARIENOREXEBOHEER LR
MZBRPNERLRIEMEFZS -

REHERY ABEECEERAEZ
BREEWNT:

2021
—E-—F

HK$'000
FER

Cash and cash equivalents RekBE2EED 1
Other payables and accruals EMEMRERERER (8)
Net asset disposed of BEHEEEFHE 3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4:& Bt #$R &R M5t

15. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continuea) 15. ERIEREEK #)
Loss on disposal of Success Start HERABZEE
HK$’'000
FTHET
Net asset disposed of BEHEEEFHE 3
Loss on disposal of money lending business HENBEEBZEE 3
Net cash outflow arising on disposal HEELENRERLFE
HK$°000
TER
Less: cash and cash equivalents balances BEEReRREEEWER
disposed (11)
Net cash outflow arising from the disposal HEMEAZES R FE (11)
Profit/(loss) for the year from the discontinued operations FRRACKRIECLEEBZHF,(EE)
are analysed as follows: DWW
A040]
—EZTF
HK$'000
FAT
Profit/(loss) for the year from money FAMBEES=F,/(F18)
lending business 17 (4,436)
Loss on disposal of money lending HERBEEBEE
business (3) =
Profit/(loss) for the year from REERIEEEEBFNFA
discontinued operation wm L (EE) 14 (4,436)
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15. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continuea)

The result of the discontinued operations for the vyear,
which have been included in the consolidated income
statement, were as follows:

15.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4:& Bt % $& &R M5t

CRIEREERK 2
ERDRIPELEE Y 2EDHARD
WARIHREOT :

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue & 426 534
Cost of sales and services 5B & AR 7% A AR = &
Gross profit E A 426 534
Other (loss)/gain, net Hth (E518), % 5 )F 58 (406) (4,950)
Administrative expenses THRAXZ (3) (20)
Profit/(loss) before tax BB AER S (E8) 17 (4,436)
Income tax expense Frigfip & = =
Profit/(loss) for the year of money lending ERKEZE SN (EBE)
business 17 (4,436)
Loss on disposal of money lending HENBEEBERE
business (3) =
Profit/(loss) for the year from REERIEEEEBFTNFA
discontinued operation wm L (E8) 14 (4,436)
Profit/(loss) for the year from FARBERIELEET
discontinued operation attributable to: wmH L (BE)ATAL
FEAh
Owners of the Company ZN/NETEZF =N 14 (4,436)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4:& Bt #$R &R M5t

15. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continuea) 15. ERIEREEK #)
Profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued operations has FARBERIELEEB 2B, (EB)
been arrived at after charging/(crediting): TN/ (FEA) T2 S HE FE B
2021 2020
=B=—F —ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Discontinued operation ERIEREER
Impairment loss on loan receivable EWER 2 REEBE 406 4,950
Cash flows of the discontinued operation for the year were FARBEREREEB 2R EREN
as follows: T
2021 2020
—E-—F —T-THF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Net cash generated from operating K TEEMBER ST
activities = =
Net cash generated from investing KHEESMSHRESFE
activities - -
Net cash generated from financing METHMERESFE
activities - -
Net cash inflow REMAFHE = S
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4:& Bt % $& &R M5t

16. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE
COMPANY

Basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by dividing
the profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

16. ZRRFEEAEBEERER
(BF1])

FREREN (BR)RFARRIAE
BARMEEN(BR)BRABBETER
Bz EFHHEFE -

2020
—E-EF

—= —=

HK$'000
TAET

Profit/(loss) =R (EE)
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the AR T #E B A fE(L
company wm L (EE)
— From continuing operations - REBBEEEER 2,372 (48,147)
— From discontinued operation -REERIEREER 14 =
2,386 (48,147)
Number of shares BB EE ‘000 ‘000
T B T B
Weighted average number of ordinary BETERRKRINE T
shares in issue 5,961,225 3,987,964

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings/
(loss) per share amounts presented for the years ended 31
March 2021 and 2020 in respect of a dilution as the impact
of the convertible bonds outstanding had an anti-dilutive
effect.

17. DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the financial year ended 31 March 2021 (2020:
nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4:& Bt #$R &R M5t

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. 1% - HBRRE
Furniture,
Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor
improvements machinery equipment vehicles Total
HENELE WEREM R RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FAL FATL FEL TEL
Cost K&
At 31 March 2019 RZE-N$=A=+-H 314 22,830 5,434 1,400 29978
Additions B 189 - - - 189
Disposal of a subsidiary ~ HE—RHTAF - (21,325) (52) (1,308) (22,685)
Exchange differences EHER = (1,505) 2 (92) (1,599)
At 31 March 2020 RZZ-ZF=f=1-H 503 = 5,380 - 5,883
Additions B - - 2 = 2
Disposal HE (188) - S - (188)
Written off 8 (15) = (37) = (52)
Disposal of a subsidiary ~ HE-ET A (300) = (5,343) - (5,643)
At 31 March 2021 R-Z--%=f=+-H - - 22 - 22
Accumulated R ERAE
depreciation and
impairment
At 31 March 2019 RZE-h&=A=1-H 154 20,984 5,374 1,246 27,758
Depreciation ik 322 1,595 29 124 2,070
Disposal of a subsidiary ~ HE—H T A - (21,196) (52) (1,288) (22,536)
Exchange differences EHEE = (1,383) V) (82) (1,467)
At 31 March 2020 RZFE-TE=A=1-H 476 - 5,349 - 5,825
Depreciation fE 27 - 12 - 39
Disposal HE (188) - - - (188)
Written off i 35 (15) S (37) = (52)
Disposal of a subsidiary ~ HE-HTF A (300) - (5,323) - (5,623)
At31March2021  R-¥--£=f=1-8 - - 1 - 1
Carrying amount BEE
At31March2021 ~ H-%=-%£=f=1-8 - - 21 - 21
At 31 March 2020 RZE-ZF=f=1-H 27 - 31 - 58

EHREEERERAR —T-_—FFR 163




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4:& Bt % $& &R M5t

19.

164

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 9. EAEEE

Office premises
WAEYE

HK$'000
TAT

At 1 April 2019 initially applied HKFRS 16 R -Z— L FMNA—BEHXER

BERM B HREERE165 431
Depreciation charge during the year FRITERE (377)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 RZEBE-_FEF=ZA=1+—H8BK
—E-ZFMPA—H 54
Addition HEE 1,935
Depreciation charge during the year FAMEES (365)
Disposal of subsidiary HEFAA (155)
At 31 March 2021 R-EBE-_-F=HA=+—H 1,469
The Group leases office premises for its operations. The AEEHERLAEWHENETLEE - H
contract is entered into for a fixed term of two years. BSOS MFEREF BT -
As at 1 April 2019, the Group has one lease agreement RZE—NLFNA—HB KAEE—HH
with remaining lease term of more than one year and EREFRERBER—F WERES
therefore recognised right-of-use assets of approximately BUBERELERNFI6HRERETRAEEE
HK$431,000 under HKFRS 16. The lease contains fixed #49431,0008 T - HEREEEREFE
minimum annual lease payment term. MERNFKER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4:& Bt #$R &R M5t

20. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 200 R—EBERTRZKRE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FABT
Share of net assets DIEFEE = 1,022
Less: Accumulated impairment B RETRE = (1,022)

Amount due from an associate (note (a)) &Y — R Bk & A 7 1A

(P 3E (@) - 4,457
Less: Accumulated impairment B RETRE = (4,457)
Particulars of the Group's associate are as follows: AEBZHERRFBOT:

Percentage of ownership

Place of registration Particulars of interest attributable Principal
Name of company and bhusiness registered capital to the Group activities
AEBEEREE
NCIEY of it I & 3 3t B HEMERFE BB TEXER
2021 2020
—EC_-F —E2-F
Jiangsu BCTV Fashion Media The PRC RMB10,000,000 N/A 39.20%  Dormant
Company Limited (note (b)) ~ H & A K #10,000,0007T rER B%
IHEBEERRNEEERAA
(Fff (b))
Notes: Bt
(@  The amount due from an associate is unsecured, interest (@ BU—HMBEARRBRAEER &
free and repayable on demand. ERIEERERE -
(b)  The company has been dormant since 2010. by ZRARB-_Z—ZTFHRDEFE-
() The holding company of Jiangsu BCTV Fashion Media € THEESEHEBEEZERATREA
Ccompany Limited was disposed during the year. WHE -
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20. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

The summarised financial information of the Group's
associate that is not individually material is set out below:

200 R—REBELATAZ2RE®
BEAEEBAAT(ENTS ABEA)
CEHBEEREERIMT

2020

—E—F
—= =

HK$'000
TAET

Total assets BEE 7,469
Total liabilities wafE (4,862)
Net assets FEE 2,607
Group's share of net assets of an REBOLH—HEBERAR 2 FEE

associate 1,022
Revenue WA -
Loss for the year FEBE =

Group's share of results of an associate
for the year

AEEDE—RBERR ZFRERA

21. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

21. EARIE - RER H A BB
|

2021
—E_——F

HK$'000
FER

Deposits and other receivables & & H b JE W GRIR 898 260
Prepayments AR 29,590 274
30,488 534

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 4(a)
(iv).

Note:

(@ As at 31 March 2020, other receivable of approximately
HK$2,592,000 was fully impaired during the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4:& Bt #$R &R M5t

22. LOAN RECEIVABLES 22. EWWE R

2020
—E-FF

HK$’'000
T

Gross carrying amount of fixed-rate loan EAEZ ERE R

receivable BERMEE = 4,967
Less: Accumulated allowance W BEHEE = (4,967)
Carrying amount BREE = -

The movements in loss allowance for loan receivables FRREUERSEREZEHNOT

during the year are as follows:

2021 2020

—B-—F —E_TF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FABT

At the beginning of reporting period eSS ) 4,967 17

Increase in allowance B 18 0 406 4,950

Disposal of a subsidiary tE—RBT AR (5,373) =

At the end of reporting period JE R - 4,967
The Group's loans and interest receivables mainly arise REBECvEBERERFNMETEREEH

from the money lending business in Hong Kong, which are MEZER - LABITEE -

denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
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22.

168

LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

Analysis of the gross carry amount of loans receivable is
as follows:

Pt R R P R

22. EWE R &)

ERER Z@FEEEINAOT

HK$'000
TAT

Gross carrying amount as at 1 April 2019 RZE-NFUNA—BZREEE 4,416
Interest income A E WA 534
Impairment loss recognised e R H R (4,950)
Gross carrying amount as at 31 March 2020 and R-ZZE-_ZFEF=A=+—HK
1 April 2020 —E_EFNA-RAZAREE -
Interest income 2 &= 426
Impairment loss recognised TR KB E B 18 (426)
Gross carrying amount as at 31 March R-B--—F=ZA=+—HZAKREE
2021 -
Definitions of Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3 are detailed in F—BE F= ﬁfab Eﬁ&%ifﬂ%&z)ﬁ%
note 6(a)(iii). B ﬁﬁf\ﬂﬁ s 6(a)iii)

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 6(a)
(iii).

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of
the reporting period is the carrying value of the loans
receivable. The Group seeks to maintain tight control over
its loans receivable in order to minimize credit risk by
reviewing the borrowers’ or guarantors’ financial positions.

At the end of the reporting period, loans receivable carried
fixed interest rates and had effective interest were 12%
per annum (2020: 12% per annum).

Interest income and allowance for loans and interest
receivables of approximately HK$426,000 (2020:
HK$534,000) and HK$426,000 (2020: 4,950,000)
respectively have been recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 March
2021.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4:& Bt #$R &R M5t

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES 23. E S EEWFIE
2020
—ETF
HK$'000
FAT
Trade receivables 2 5 s IE 23,562 31,364
Less: Allowance for credit losses s Eﬁiﬂﬁﬁé{% (498) (21,364)
23,064 10,000
Aging analysis SRR AT
The Group's credit terms with its customers generally AEBGTEREFPZEER —&M T30
range from 30 days to 180 days (2020: 30 days to 180 RKEBOKR(ZEZZTF: 309&11809@
days). The Group seeks to apply strict control over $'¥@ 2 SKER AR TE S HL AR (B 18 B W FUE
its outstanding receivables and has a credit control 7_12%?1%%‘5%1:%}1&B%EE%{E& °
department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances @,HH EHBHELEREETHER -
are reviewed regularly by senior management. As at the WK BIERRBRREZERD *ﬁ(?ﬂ
end of the reporting period, an aging analysis of the trade BRI AR 2 HBE B2 2 #1E)
receivables, net of provision presented based on the N
respective dates on which revenue was recognised, are as
follows:
2021
—E_—F
HK$°000
FER
Within 30 days 30K 8,224 -
31-90 days 31290k 12,840 5,000
91-180 days 91ZE180K 700 5,000
Over 180 days 180K A £ 1,300 -
23,064 10,000
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 6(a) BE RT il 2 518 8 R MY sE6()(iil) ©

(iii).
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24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 2, BAREFABERZEZ2THEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2021 2020
—E_—fF —E-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong RBEBLEMZRAES - 202
The movements for the financial assets at fair value FARAABEFABRZEMEEEZDY
through profit or loss during the year are as follows: ORNE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Beginning of the year R E 7] 202 3,160
Additions 1 BE - _
Loss recognised in profit or loss RERERZERE (1) (1,207)
Disposals & (201) (1,751)
End of the year RER - 202
Net fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value BRAARBRFABEZEMEECANE
through profit or loss recognised included: Rl (BER)FBEeRE:

2020

—ETF

HK$'000

& T

Realised (loss)/gain E#B(BE) K= (1 (149)
Unrealised loss REBEIE = (1,058)
(1) (1,207)

The fair value of all equity securities is based on their FIERAESFZARBHNERERT
current bid prices in an active market and the fair values BGZBRITBABREE VYERAAE

are within level 1 of the fair value hierarchy (note 6). BHRkzE R TS -
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25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 5. RERREEEY

2020
—E-FF

HK$'000
TAT

Cash and bank balances He RIRTTHE
Denominated in HKD A TTEtE 326 149
Denominated in RMB WA RESHE 24,857 -

25,183 149

RITREBRBEERTERN IR T
MEREBANE - RITHEBRDERRER
RAF B 30 8 92 8% 2 iR7T -

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

26. TRADE PAYABLES

Based on the invoice date, the aging analysis of the trade

26. B 5 R
BREHREH BEIENRRZEES

payables is as follows: IR NE
2021 2020
—R=—F —T-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
within 30 days 30K A = =
31-90 days 31E290K 19,677 =
91-180 days 912180K 1,800 =
Over 180 days 180K A £ 300 7,677
21,777 7,677

AREBEES HBEAHPELEST — R
NFI0E0KR(ZE=FF : 30860K) °

The Group’s credit terms generally range from 30 to 60
days (2020: 30 to 60 days) from the invoice date.
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27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 27. HhERREREFEHR
{040]
—E-THF
HK$'000
THET
Other payables H At JE < 5B 961 3,610
Accruals FEEERA 11,420 19,484
12,381 23,094

28. AMOUNT DUE TO A NON-CONTROLLING 28. BN FRA—BIFERBRRR

SHAREHOLDER OF A SUBSIDIARY 15
The amount is unsecured, interest free and repayable on BRRBEAEEN RERIEEREE -
demand.
29. BORROWINGS 29. B &
2020
—ETF
HK$'000
FAT
Other loans, unsecured HER - EEA
Interest free B - 1,369
Fixed interest rate at 6% 7E M & & 6% - 519
Fixed interest rate at 24% TE ) & 5 24% 163 14,478
163 16,366
Movement of borrowings BEEZE
2020
—EFF
HK$'000
FAET
At 1 April REA—H 16,366 20,818
Proceed from new borrowings MEEMSRIE 19,282 5,200
Repayment EE (36,999) (13,207)
Accrued interest FEEHF B 1,814 3,600
Interest paid =EREAESS = (45)
Disposal of subsidiary HE—MFAF (300) =
At 31 March R=ZA=+—H 163 16,366
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30. LEASE LIABILITIES

The exposure of the Group's lease liabilities are as follows:

30. HE&E
AEEBERENRBMT

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-FF

HK$'000 HK$'000

F# T THET

Current Bl ER 868 25
Non-current JE BN Ef 623 =
1,491 25

2021
—E-—F
Present
value
of lease
liabilities

Minimum

lease
payments
BEEHAENR HEEEHRAE

HK$'000
FHET

HK$'000
FERT

RATHHEIHNZEEE

B
-—FR 960 868
-BE-—FETBEMF

Minimum lease payment due:

— Within one year
— More than one year but not more than

two years 640 623
1,600 1,491
Future finance charges RARFEE A (109)
Present value of lease liabilities HEBGERE 1,491
Amounts due for settlement within one  — & A B 8 X 6 38 (R
year (shown under current liabilities) mEBETIIR) (868)
Amounts due for settlement after one — F1& BB ST B OB
year 623
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30.

Sl

174

LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)

30 HEEE#)

2020
—ETF
Present
value
Minimum of lease
lease payments liabilities
HEHAE HEAE
KIE R1E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET
within one year —FA 26 25
Future finance charges RERBEERA 1)
Present value of lease liabilities HEBBECHE 25

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 5 November 2015, the Company issued the 6%
convertible bonds in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$130,000,000 due on 5 November 2018 (the “CB 2018")
with a conversion price of HK$0.05 per share, subject to
customary adjustment. On 28 June 2016, the Company
issued the 6% convertible bonds in the aggregate principal
amount of HK$120,000,000 due on 28 June 2019 (the
“CB 2019") with a conversion price of HK$0.05 per share,
subject to customary adjustment.

The terms of CB 2018 and CB 2019 are satisfied the
“fixed for fixed” rule in HKAS 32. The proceeds of the CB
2018 and CB 2019 were allocated into two components,
debt and equity elements on initial recognition. The
equity elements are presented in equity component of
convertible bonds. The CB 2018 and CB 2019 have been
valued as at the date of issue on the basis carried out at
that date by independent qualified professional valuers not
connected with the Group.
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. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

The movements of the liability component of the CB 2018
and CB 2019 during the year were as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4:& Bt #$R &R M5t

3. IR ES )
—EN\FUBREESFE T —NFA
BlREEZBBERIRAFE ZE S0

T
CB 2018 CB 2019 Total
—E-N\E —B2-NF
AR E S CE: Y EEE # 5t
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TER TERT TERL
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NFMA—A 79,758 82,872 162,630
Effective interest expense for the  FRE K F| 85 X
year 5,591 4,901 10,492
Conversion during the year FRH#%K (50,464) (33,420) (83,884)
Share issued in respect of bond BENESNEMmMET
interest payments el 3 (4,770) (3,715) (8,485)
At 31 March 2020 and at 1 April W-ZE-THE
2020 ZA=+—HE
RZTE_ZTF
MA—H 30,115 50,638 80,753
Effective interest expense for the  FRE K F| 85 X
year 1,700 2,074 3,774
Conversion during the year FARK (30,615) (50,712) (81,327)
Share issued in respect of bond BENESHEMmMET
interest payments Z & H (1,200) (2,000) (3,200)

At 31 March 2021

i
=A=t+—8H
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31. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continuea)

The principal terms of the CB 2018 and CB 2019 are as
follows:

176

(i)

(ii)

Period

The convertible bonds are due and will mature on
the third (3rd) anniversary of the date of issuance
of the convertible bonds (the “Maturity Date").
Any unredeemed and unconverted bond shall be
redeemed at 100% of the outstanding principal
amount in cash.

conversion

The bondholder of the convertible bonds (the
“Bondholder(s)”) has the right (the “Conversion
Right”) to convert the outstanding principal amount
of the convertible bonds in whole or in part into
Shares (the “Conversion Shares”) at any time
following the date of issue until the Maturity Date.

The number of Conversion Shares to be issued on
exercise of a Conversion Right shall be determined
by dividing the principal amount of the convertible
bonds being converted by HK$0.05 (the “Conversion
Price”), subject to customary adjustments in the
events of share consolidation, share subdivision,
capitalisation issues, capital distribution, rights
issue and issues of other securities below 80 per
cent of market price. In the opinion of the Directors,
the adjustments to Conversion Price in those
circumstances are all for anti-dilutive purpose to
protect the right of the Bondholder.

(iif) Early redemption

The Company is entitled to redeem the convertible
bonds at 100% of the outstanding principal amount
of the convertible bonds (in whole or in part) at
any time and from time to time at the option of the
Company prior to the Maturity Date.
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31. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continuea)

(iv) Interest

The convertible bonds bears interest from and
including the date of its issue at the rate of 6% per
annum on the outstanding principal amount thereof.
The Bondholders have the option to request the
Company to pay the interest by the additional shares
of the Company instead of cash. The Bondholders
have, by notice in writing served on the Company,
required the Company to pay any interest payable
hereunder by way of Shares.

On 25 October 2018, the Company and the bondholders
entered into the Supplemental Agreements (the
“Supplemental Agreements”) to extend the maturity date
of the CB 2018 and the CB 2019 from the maturity date
of 5 November 2018 and 28 June 2019 respectively to
the extended maturity date of 31 December 2020; and to
change the interest payment terms of the CB 2018 and CB
2019.

For the interest of CB 2018, the interest is calculated as
the outstanding principal amount of the CB2018 held by
the Bondholders multiplied by 8% per annum, instead of
6% per annum, simple interest payable semi-annually,
instead of per annum.

For the interest of CB 2019, the interest is calculated as
the outstanding principal amount of the CB 2019 held by
the Bondholder multiplied by 8% per annum, instead of 6%
per annum, simple interest payable semi-annually, instead
of per annum.

3. TR RESF #)

(iv) ® &

ARRESELRTESE(REEA)
B AR L oK 1B B AN S B IR A R R 6%
HE  EEBAEAREERKAAT
AZNA BB SNR (7 T 3E IR & 4 A
B EERBAADAAATRLE
TRA BRAATUBROHIT XY
HE fa] A & o

RZE—-N\FE+AZ+HB AR FHEE
FRBBAFLATHBR(HETBZRED
NERZZE-)\FUBRKEHFRER-F
—NFABRKREH2HBEA BB
BB A-_E—N\GF+—-—FARAK=-ZF
—hERNRAZTNHEEZKE KD H
H-ZE-—ZEF+-_A=+—H: kBF—=
E-NFABEBREFE_T-NLFAK
REH 2 BB

—E-NFAUBRBREFZMNEME © &
BHARBHRBARBZ-ZE-N\F
A#®KER 2 RERASERIAS (F
FEXM) M IR (BFXMN) 2 EBNF
BF -

—E-NFUBBRESIAEMS it
HEERBHRBARAZ-E—N%F
EEL LT PR T-L T £ CINC!
S OF ) T IE6% (8 F X ) 2 B F
& Fi o
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31.

32.
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continuea)

The supplemental agreement was subsequently approved
by shareholder of the Company on 5 December 2018,
the amendments resulted in substantial modification of
the terms of the convertible notes. On 3 December 2018,
the liability component of the convertible notes before
extension was extinguished with the corresponding
original convertible notes reserve while the liability
component of the convertible notes after extension was
newly recognised with the fair value which has been
ascertained by an independent professional valuation
firm. Interest expenses on the convertible notes before
and after extension was calculated using the effective
interest method by applying the effective interest rate of
approximately 10.48% and 9.18% to the respective liability
component.

BOND AND INTEREST PAYABLE

Between 2 to 5 years (Note)

“ERFHE (M)

3. IR ES )

MABEHEER-_ZT-\F+_-_AAHA
EARBBRRME  ZFETEHA
BERERERKREER R_T—\F
T-AZB MMz RRRERZA
ER EBREZ RABRBRRERE M
HER > MR ZARKRER 2 BES
DAREBIERGEERARERZARN
BEEHER - EHAT N IEH R 275K
SRZMNEAXDERBERNEEFTE -
BItR B B BB 7 Bl 12 4910.48% £.9.18%
ZEBRMEGFE -

2. EREHRAE

7,687 3,938

Note: On 22 October 2019, the Company issued a bond with
principal amount of HK$5,000,000 to an independent
third party with coupon interest of 6% per annum and a
maturity of 4 years from the date of issue. The effective
interest rate for the bond is 15% per annum after

considering the direct transaction costs.

On 4 August 2020, the Company issued a bond with
principal amount of HK$3,000,000 to an independent
third party with coupon interest of 30% per annum and a
maturity of 2 years from the date of issue.
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33. SHARE CAPITAL

33. k&

Number of
ordinary
shares of
HK$0.0004 Nominal
each value
SREE
0.0004% Tt 2
TERHAE HE
HK$'000
FAT
Authorised EE
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 and RZZE-NAFWA—H =
31 March 2021 TZFF=A=+—-HEk
—E-—4%=ZR=+—H 250,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid ERTRAR
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NF=ZA=+—H 2,680,475,222 1,072
Conversion of convertible bonds R}k ES @ 1,660,000,000 664
Shares issued in respect of RENEHEMEMETZ
bond interest payments % 1 (b) 109,916,707 44
Shares issued under general mandate R & —RIFEE T2 KH (©) 452,000,000 181
At 31 March 2020 and at 1 April 2020 RZ-ZT-_TF=F=+—H
M—ZE-TEMA—H 4,902,391,929 1,961
Conversion of convertible bonds RBABRES @) 1,300,000,000 520
Shares issued in respect of bond BEFEHFEMET 2R
interest payments %) (b) 450,131,991 180
Shares issued under general mandate 1B 1 — R IX %17 2 Kk 5 (© 488,900,000 196
At 31 March 2021 R=®8=--%=ZA=+-H 7,141,423,920 2,857
EHEERREARAR —T—_—FF% 179
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33. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

180

(@)

During the year, the bondholders of the CB 2018 have
converted the CB 2018 with the aggregate principal amount
of HK$45.0 million at conversion price of HK$0.05 per share
into 900,000,000 shares. (2019: aggregate principal amount
of HK$50.0 million converted into 1,000,000,000 shares)

During the year, the bondholder of CB 2019 has converted
the CB 2019 with the aggregate principal amount of
HK$35.0 million at conversion price of HK$0.05 per share
into 700,000,000 shares. (2020: aggregate principal amount
of HK$33.0 million converted into 660,000,000 shares).

During the year, the bondholders of the CB 2018 and CB
2019 have requested to pay any interest payable by way of
the Shares. The interests of approximately HK$2,507,000
have been paid by way of Shares and 150,131,991 Shares
were issued at conversion price of HK$0.05 per share (2020:
interests amount of approximately HK$8,485,000 converted
into 109,916,707 Shares).

On 19 September 2018, the Company entered into another
subscription agreement with Mr. Wang Dequn (“Mr. Wang"),
pursuant to which the Company agreed to allot and issue
and Mr. Wang has agreed to subscribe for 70,000,000
subscription shares at the subscription price of HK$0.10 per
subscription shares for additional financial resources for
the overall development of the Group. On 26 October 2018,
70,000,000 Shares were issued accordingly. Mr. Wang has
been appointed as an executive Director and chairman of
the Board with effect from 1 November 2018.

On 29 August 2019, the Company entered into the Placing
Agreement with the Placing Agent pursuant to which the
Placing Agent has agreed to place, for up to 500,000,000
new Shares to any number of Placee at a price of HK$0.019
per Placing Share, for and on behalf of the Company. On 11
October 2019, 452,000,000 Shares were issued.

On 16 October 2020, the Company entered into the Placing
Agreement with the Placing Agent pursuant to which the
Placing Agent has agreed to place, for up to 749,230,000
new Shares to any number of Placee at a price of HK$0.143
per Placing Share, for and on behalf of the Company. On 18
November 2020, 488,900,000 Shares were issued.
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

A share option scheme (the “Scheme”) has been adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 27 March 2020 for the
primary purpose to enable the Company to grant options
to eligible participants to subscribe for Shares and will
expire on 27 March 2030. Under the Scheme, the Board
may grant options to the eligible participants, including
an employee, a director, a supplier of goods or services,
a customer of the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
an agent, adviser, consultant, strategist, contractor,
sub-contractor, expert or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support or any
valuable services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries
or any securities issued by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries.

The total numbers of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under Scheme is not permitted to exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point
of time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. The number of shares issued and to be
issued in respect of which options granted and may be
granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted
to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point of time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. Options granted to directors, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company or any of their
associates shall be approved by the independent non-
executive Directors and in any event that the proposed
participant is an independent non-executive director
of the Company, the vote of such independent non-
executive director shall not be counted for the purpose of
approving such grant. Options granted to independent non
—executive directors in excess of 0.1% of the Share capital
or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be approved
in advance by the Company’s shareholders.

4. LR AERZARKS

BRER-_Z-_ZF=-_A_+TttBEBBZ
RBER - ARAF DR —AERAE S
(58] T25HEEARAARAAEE
R2EEREEREARBRD - 518
RR_E=FF=—A_t+ttHEW R
Eitdl - Exg@nRAaER2EE(R
BRARAREEFMFRAAZEE EF -
EmAMBHER TP WARAH
HEMFAAIRARBHLEEMFQ
Bl B 1T 2 AE o] 5 55 fe S T 3 s A Al
XEIEFNEEERKEZRE - BMA -
BHEA KK AEEH - DEH - H
RAER)REBRE -

ABRARBRRELIE  REFET
RO ZBRERY R ZRMDEHET
GEBARANEMNREDZHTROZ
10% « REARBRRELAAE - RE
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34.

S5¢
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

The amount payable for the acceptance of an option
granted by the Company under Scheme shall be the sum
of HK$1. Options may be exercised at any time specified
on the Option certificate sealed by the Company. The
exercise price of an option is determined by the Board,
and will not be less than the greater of (i) the closing price
of the Shares on the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of
the shares on the Stock Exchange as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Shares.

No share option of the Company has been granted under
the Scheme during the years ended 31 March 2021 and
2020.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 1 January 2021, the Group disposed of its 100% equity
interest of the subsidiary, M21 Investment Limited and its
subsidiaries (“M21 Group”) which owned by the Company
to independent third party at cash consideration of HK$1.

The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of M21
Group at the date of disposal were as follows:

4. LR B/ ERZNRKR S

§58

JURY «-ni .,'-,(

Pt R R P R

2 (#)

BEWARRREBEBRL 2G5 BRE
FEft 2 RIEHE BB T - BB IR ] R
AABEECERESSEMETE 2EM
BRETE -BREZTHEEREESE
T UYHEAEBERTHNEBEBZESE )
BONRBELABMEBIHISERERA
ZUWHE: (NEMREBEERLBHA
TEAECEBTEBIMESARERMAIZ
FHWTE RGNRGD 2 EE -

22— F R _FE_FTF=ZAH
Zt+—HLEFE BMEREFEELR
NRERRHE -

H & F 2 A
RZEZ—F—A—B XEERABL
E=ZFHEXRRAEEN F R FM21
Investment Limited & & F 2 &) (M21%
1) 2100% K% ReRERIVET -

REEEH MANEBEZ2EEREBEZ
FREEMT :

2021
—E_—£F

HK$’000
FHET

Property, plant and equipment /EI Y 20
Right-of-use assets EREEE 155
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FEfRZE e R EMmEKRKE 127
Cash and cash equivalents HeRREFED 41
Other payables and accruals HtENRERESER (3,429)
Amount due to a non-controlling shareholders ¥ A& — & FE 2 B A% B 3IE

of a subsidiary (7,924)
Borrowings BE (300)
Lease liabilities HEAE (157)
Tax payables FESBIR (2,235)
Net liabilities disposed of BHEAEFE (13,702)
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35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continuea) 35. HEFA®#)
Gain on disposal of M21 Group HEM21E B W &=
HK$°000
FTHER
Net liabilities disposed of BEHEBEFR 13,702
Reclassification of cumulative foreign currency HEM21EEE RN E B G FE
translation reserve upon disposal of M21 EoEEER
Group to profit or loss 783
Non-controlling shareholders of a subsidiary TR H IR B AR R (4,142)
Gain on disposal & U = 10,343
Net cash outflow arising on disposal HEEENREREFE
HK$’'000
FTHET
Less: cash and cash equivalents balances B EEReMREZEWER
disposed (41)
Net cash outflow arising from the disposal PERELE RS REFE (41)
On 8 December 2019, the Group disposed of its 55.7% and RZE—NE+ZANE XEEH A
14.3% equity interest of the subsidiary, Hunan Xiaoxiang MARBITREARBITZRELHEHR
Digital Television Broadcast Company Limited which owned RAXREEBERBERARNEENFA
by Sky Dragon Digital Television and Movies Limited to the AHERMBRTERBERAA57% K
minority shareholder (A EE SR RBLERECT A MV3% s BETFLHBRENEEERSE
al]) and independent third party at cash consideration of BB BERETRRIRBYE=F -

RMB1 and RMB1 respectively.
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DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continuea) 35. HEF AT (®)

Net cash outflow arising on disposal HEEENREREFE®)
(Continued)

The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of the HMERAETERBRARN L E B H
Hunan Xiaoxiang Digital Television Broadcast Company LEAERBENREEENT:

Limited at the date of disposal were as follows:

2020
—ETF
HK$'000
FAET
Net assets disposed of: BEHEFEE:

Property, plant and equipment Y BBREE 149
Other intangible assets HEthmEEE 90

Prepayments, deposits and other TERFHIE - Re Rk EAmEKRKIE
receivables 36
Cash and cash equivalents e kREFEY 19
Trade payables B 5 R R (530)
Other payables and accruals HiEAREREGNER (1,762)
Non-controlling interests derecognised RIEFERAIEITERE R 3,977
1,979
Loss on disposal HEBE (1,979)
An analysis of the net cash flows in respect of the disposal HEFRRAZESREFELONMUT :

of subsidiary was as follows:

Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of B DHEHR S RBELZEY (19)

Net cash outflow arising from the disposal HEMEA RS R TR (19)
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36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 6. REBERERMHFT
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions @ EXFEBRERS
During the year, the Company has issued Shares for RAREE - FInGRE B 1w R M &
the settlement of outstanding interests arising from JNFAEE - AAR B BEM TR R
convertible bonds as disclosed in note 31 to the BEEREEZRAREBITRG -

consolidated financial statements.

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from (b) MEZTHMEE2EEES
financing activities

Bond and

Convertible interest
Borrowings bonds DEVED] Total

EfHE %
EE WRKRES & @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THR THT T THT
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NEFEA-A 20,818 162,630 - 183,448
Change from financing cash flow HERENELED (8,007) - 3,700 4,307)
Interest expenses MERAX 3,555 10,492 238 14,285
Conversion into ordinary shares RBLTAR - (83,884) - (83,884)

Share issued in respect of convertible XA HRREHF &

bonds interest payment mEf7z B - (8,485) = (8,485)

At 31 March 2020 and at 1 April 2020 R-ZE-ZBF=A=+—H

FZE-FTENA—A 16,366 80,753 3,938 101,057
Change from financing cash flow RERERELEY (17,783) = 2,700 (15,083)
Interest expenses HERY 1,880 3,774 1,049 6,703
Conversion into ordinary shares RBLER = (81,327) - (81,327)
Share issued in respect of convertible  Fi AR K EHF &
bonds interest payment ey S - (3,200) - (3,200)
Disposal of subsidiary HEFAH (300) - - (300)
At 31 March 2021 R-E--£=ZH=+-H 163 - 7,687 7,850
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37. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Defined contribution retirement plan

The Group operates the MPF Scheme for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the plans are held
separately from those of the Group in funds under the
control of trustees.

38.

186

The Group recognised retirement benefit contributions of
HK$200,000 (2020: HK$120,000) from continuing operations
for the year ended 31 March 2021.

RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

(a)

(b)

Transactions with related parties

Remuneration for key management personnel
represents amount paid to the Directors as disclosed
in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

Except as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, there was no other material
related party transaction during the year.

Balance with related parties

Balances with related parties are disclosed in notes
28 to the consolidated financial statements.

The related party transactions disclosed above did
not fall under the definition of connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction in Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules, with which the Company
has complied throughout the year unless otherwise
disclosed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4:& Bt #$R &R M5t

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 39. RN F) B MR &
THE COMPANY

As at 31 March R=A=+—H

2021 2020
—E-—& —E-THE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FAL

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE

Non-current assets (RBEE
Property, plant and equipment mE - HERZE 21 14
Right-of-use asset RAEEE 1,469 54
1,490 68

Current assets RBEE
Trade receivables 2 SR IE 15,006 =
Amount due from a subsidiary (note (a)) & — 2 ) FUA (M 3% () 59,280 =
Prepayments and deposits BRRERES 434 389
Cash and cash equivalents RehkBReEEY 271 12
74,991 401
current liabilities REBaE

Trade payables B 5 R IE 21,777 -
Amounts due to subsidiaries (note (a)) T REIIEB (KM @) - 1,108
Other payables and accruals HtENHEBEREFTER 11,964 19,786
Amount due to a director N —RBEERE - 820
Borrowings fEE 163 14,997
Lease liabilities HEAR 867 25
Convertible bonds ] E S - 80,753
34,771 117,489
Net current assets/(liabilities) RBEE/(BfE)ZHE 40,220 (117,088)
Total assets less current liabilities EEHABERABERE 41,710 (117,020)

Non-current liabilities (RBEE
Bond and interest payable e R HRF S 7,687 3,938
Lease liabilities HEARE 623 =
8,310 3,938
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/(BRB)FE 33,400 (120,958)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4:& Bt % $& &R M5t

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 39. KT B AR T2
THE COMPANY (continuea)

As at 31 March (continuea) R=ZA=+—H@#®)
2021 2020
—E-—-F —E_EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FET
EQUITY %
Capital and reserves MBAR#E
Share capital &N 2,857 1,961
Reserves (note (b)) XG0 30,543 (122,919)
Capital deficiency 2 85 Al 33,400 (120,958)
Signed on its behalf of the board of directors by: HUTAIRERESTSESE:
Guo Gelin Mou Zhongwei
20 & Mk R2EE
Director Director
EE EE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4:& Bt #$R &R M5t

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 39. KT B AR T2
THE COMPANY (continuea)

As at 31 March (continuea) R=ZA=+—H@#®)
Notes: B 2
(@  Amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest (@ ‘X NFARKEAEIER T
free and repayable on demand. BHEREREE -
(b) A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: by ARFFEHEHELOT:
Equity
component of
Share  Accumulated Merger  convertible
premium losses reserve bonds Total
TRRES
RAEE 2t EE BH EnHa @t
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
B TAT TARL BT THT
At 31 March 2019 R-E-N&=R=+-A 176,221 (444,424) 13,107 77,638 (177,458)
Loss for the year FEBR - (38,566) - - (38,566)
Shares issued under general RE-REEZTZRD
mandate 8,407 - - - 8,407
Conversion of convertible bonds X a4 K E 4 115,781 - - (39,524) 76,257
Shares issued in respect of bond ~ BEX I EHFEMETZ
interest payments & 13 8,441 - - - 8,441
At 31 March 2020 W-E-Z4=A=+-H 308,350 (482,990) 13,107 38,114 (122,919)
Loss for the year FEBR - (2,739) - - (2,739)
Shares issued under general RE-REEZT2RA
mandate 69,717 - - - 69,717
Conversion of convertible bonds R AR EH 117,151 - - (38,114) 79,037
Shares issued in respect of bond ~ BEX A EFFIEMETZ
interest payments & 3 7,447 - - - 7,447
At 31 March 2021 RZZE--%=F=1-H 503,165 (485,729) 13,107 - 30,543
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40. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March
2021 and 2020 are as follows

190

Name of subsidiaries

SRR

M21 Investment Limited

Sky Dragon Digital Television and
Movies Limited

RREBYRARLT

Sparkle View Enterprises Limited

SELEERLT

Goodside International Limited
HEERERAR

Indorus Investment Limited

BRERERG(RINERAT

Nanjing Everyday Bay Trading
Company Limited
ERAREESERAA

Success Start Limited
AEERAA

Riseful Investment Limited
AERABRAT

Mighty Big Limited
BEERAT

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
operation
iR/
By Ed- 3]

BvI

ABRLES

Hong Kong

BY
ABRABS

Hong Kong
Bk

BYI

ABRUBS
The PRC

P

The PRC

P

Hong Kong
Bk

Hong Kong
3

Hong Kong

Particulars of issued
and paid up share
capital/ registered
capital
BRTRARKRAE/
ERMEARE

400 ordinary shares of
USD1 each
WOREREEIZTL

21,000,000 shares of
HK$21,000,000

EfB21,000000% T2
21,000,008

1 ordinary share of USD1
ERIZTORERR

1 share of HKS1
ERIET IRRA
100 ordinary shares of
USD1 each
00RERAEBZELL

RMB993,947
ARB9939477

RMB22,221,551
ARE2,221,5517

1 share of HK$1
EEELIRERR

1 share of HK$1
EEELIRERR

1 share of HK$1
BEBTORER

Farnova Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021

40. EEFQAFHE

R-E-—FR-F-FF=A=+—-8"
AAREETARREMT

Group's

effective interest

AR ERES
2021 2020
—E--E&
N/A 100%
TER
N/A 100%
TER
N/A 100%
TER
N/A 100%
AER
N/A 100%
TER
N/A 100%
TER
N/A 80%
TER
N/A 100%
AER
100% 100%
N/A 100%
TER

Percentage held
by the Company

ARARAEZARM

2021
—E--F
N/A

TER

N/A

TER

N/A

FER

N/A
FER

N/A

TER

N/A

TER

N/A

FER

N/A
FER

100%

N/A
FER

2020
1

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

80%

100%

100%

100%

Principal activities

IEEH

Investment holding

RALRK

Provision of advertising and
movie production and
distribution services

REBRSUREZEER
RR%

Investment holding
RERR

Investment holding
RERR

Investment holding

RALK

Dormant

8

=

Investment holding

RALRK

Provision of money lending
M

Securities investments

Dormant
B
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40. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 40. T EFRAHFB @)

Place of Particulars of issued
incorporation/ and paid up share
registration and capital/ registered Group's Percentage held
Name of subsidiaries operation capital effective interest by the Company Principal activities
AL/ BRTRMERE/
TREER AMREELE ARERGE AREERER ARNEKE A TEER
2021 2020 2021
—E--E& —E--E
Glory Ray Global Limited BYI 1 ordinary share of USD1 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
RABERERAR ABRRES EEETRERR REBR
Azure Future Investment Limited ~ Hong Kong 1 share of HKS1 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
HEREERAA £ EE1ET IRRR REBR
AITEERRRHFERAT  The PRC RMB800,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Dormant
HE AR 8000007 Bx
Wealth Crest Investment Limited ~ BVI T ordinary share of USD1 N/A 100% N/A 100%  Investment holding
HEREERLA ABRRES EERETRERR TER TER REBR
Virtue State Developments Limited  BVI 100 ordinary shares of N/A 100% N/A 100%  Investment holding
USD1 each
AERRARLA ABRRES 0RERABIETL TER FER RELR
Goldtop Success Limited Hong Kong 1 share of HKS1 N/A 100% N/A 100%  Dormant
FERRAT £ EE1ET IRRR TER TER Bx
Wealth Up International BYI 1 ordinary share of USD1 N/A 100% N/A 100%  Investment holding
Investment Limited
BREBRAFRAA ABRRHS EERETRERR TER TER REBR
Joint Spread Limited Hong Kong 1 share of HKS1 N/A 100% N/A 100%  Dormant
[AEERAR £ EE1ET IRRR TER TER Bx
Hong Kong Changda Advertising  Hong Kong 1 share of HKS1 100% 100% 100% 100%  Dormant
Media Limited
ERBERSEEERAA £ EE1ET IRRR Bx
ERTE(RE)HEERRT  ThePRC RMB1,000,000,000 100% N/A 100% N/A Sales of vehicle
HE A 1,000,000,0007 AR TER  HEEH
The above table lists out the major subsidiaries of the EFRINFTARARZZEZ—F=A
Company at 31 March 2021. =t+—BZFEFRAE -
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Five-Year Financial Summary
LEMBHME

A summary of the published consolidated results and statement RT3 AXEERBERAFNNEZGEAEER

of assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five years, isset EEBEBERIBEE:
out below:

RESULTS E¥

Continuing and discontinued operations
BEREEBEROCARILBEER
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—-HLEE

2020 2019 2018 2017

—E=-F —T-NFE ZE-NF ZT—+tF

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHE T FHET FHET FHE T

Revenue WA 67,512 20,534 28,061 23,610 45,204
Profit/(loss) attributable ZN/NEIR DN
to the owners of the FEAERF

company (E18) 2,386 (48,671) (50,622) (34,302) 131,444

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
As at 31 March
R=BA=+—~H

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

—B-—F 2 2F —_T-NF —T-NF —_T—+tF

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHET FH& T FHET FHET FHE T

Total assets BwEE 80,225 10,997 44,298 57,759 81,966

Total liabilities FR=RE (43,660) (139,1006) (222,565) (229,225) (247,343)

Net assets/(liabilities) BE/(AE)FHE 36,565 (128,109) (178,267) (171,466) (165,377)
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